Wang, Weikan, <u>Aging Impairs Regulatory T cells to Affect the Mouse Model of Late-onset</u> <u>Multiple Sclerosis.</u> Doctor of Philosophy (Biomedical Sciences), June 2022, pp. 110, 3 tables, 27 illustrations.

#### Summary

Although multiple sclerosis (MS) primarily onsets in young adults, it can also develop in the elderly, which is termed late-onset (aged) MS. CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T (Treg) cells play an ameliorative role in severity of MS or its animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), and the aged immune system accumulates peripheral Treg (pTreg) cells. However, late-onset MS in the aged patients presents a more progressive disease course. We investigated why the accumulated pTreg cells fail to ameliorate the MS severity in the aged individuals by using an aged EAE mouse model to recapitulate late-onset MS in patients. We observed that the onset of EAE is delayed in aged mice, but disease severity is increased compared to young EAE mice. We found that the distribution of Treg cells in aged EAE mice exhibited an increased proportion of polyclonal (pan-) pTreg cells and a decreased proportion of antigen specific-pTreg cells in the periphery, but decreased proportions of both pan- and antigen specific-Treg cells in the central nervous system (CNS). Transiently inhibiting Foxp3 or depleting pTreg cells partially corrected Treg distribution and restored the balance of effector T cells (Teff) and Treg cells in the aged inflamed CNS, thereby ameliorating the disease in the aged EAE mice. Furthermore, in the aged inflamed CNS, CNS-Treg cells exhibited a high plasticity and T effector (CNS-Teff) cells presented a great clonal expansion, disrupting the Treg/Teff balance. These results provide evidence and mechanism that accumulated aged pTreg cells play a detrimental role in neuronal inflammation of aged MS.

### AGING IMPAIRS TREG CHARACTERISTICS TO AFFECT THE MOUSE MODEL OF

# LATE-ONSET MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

Weikan Wang, M.D., M.S.

APPROVED:	
DocuSigned by: Dola a-Mila a Su	6/20/2022
Dong Ming. Su, Major Professor	6/20/2022
Bruce Burnell	
Bruce Bungell, Committee Member	
Rance Berg	6/20/2022
BF8853FAA86E4C4 Rance Berg, Committee Member	
Shaohua Yang	6/20/2022
Shaohua Yang, Committee Member	
Harlan Jones	6/20/2022
Haplan Jones, Committee Member	
Gulab Eode	6/20/2022
Gulab Zode, University Member	
Bruce Burnell	6/20/2022
Bruce Bunnell, Chair, Department of Microbiol	ogy, Immunology & Genetics
Michael Mathis	6/20/2022
FF755DAC8DEC466	

Michael Mathis, Dean, School of Biomedical Sciences

# AGING IMPAIRS REGULATORY T CELLS TO AFFECT THE MOUSE MODEL OF LATE-ONSET MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

# DISSERTATION

# Presented to the Graduate Council of the

**School of Biomedical Sciences** 

# University of North Texas Health Science Center at Fort Worth

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Weikan Wang

Fort Worth, Texas

June 2022

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS v
LIST OF TABLESvii
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS xi
ATTRIBUTION OF PUBLISHED WORK xii
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION 1
1.1 The immune system: innate and adaptive immunity1
1.2 T cells: development, differentiation and their potentials for CNS autoimmunity2
1.2.1 TCR Rearrangement for TCR Specificity and Diversity
1.2.2 T cell Selection and Imperfect Central Tolerance for CNS Autoimmunity
1.3 Multiple Sclerosis
1.4 T Cell-Mediated Mechanisms of MS pathology and Its Animal Model EAE11
1.5 Late-onset MS in aged patients17
1.6 Characteristics of the aged T cell immune system 18
1.7 Treg instability and Plasticity23
1.8 Project Significance
1.8.1 Problem and Central Hypothesis
1.8.2 Project innovation
CHAPTER II. MATERIALS AND METHODS
CHAPTER III. Late-onset EAE in Aged Mice Presents Distinct Disease Characteristics, Which
are Associated with Altered Treg Distribution in Peripheral Lymphoid Orangs and the Inflamed
CNS

3.1 Scientific Premise and Rationale
3.2 Aim 140
3.3 Results
3.4 Summary
CHAPTER IV. Accumulated Peripheral Pan-pTreg cells Impair CNS-tissue Specific Treg
Trafficking into the Aged EAE CNS via suppressing IFN- $\gamma$ -producing
leukocytes
4.1 Scientific Premise and Rationale54
4.2 Aim 2
4.3 Results
4.4 Summary60
CHAPTER V. Enhanced Treg Plasticity in the Inflammatory Condition Impairs the Suppressive
Function on Teff cells in the Aged EAE CNS
5.1 Scientific Premise and Rationale69
5.2 Aim 370
5.3 Results
5.4 Summary72
CHAPTER VI. Discussion, Limitation, and Future Direction77
REFERENCES

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

**AD**: Alzheimer's disease Aire: autoimmune regulator **APCs**: antigen presenting cells **BBB**: blood–brain barrier **CD**: cluster of differentiation **CDRs**: complementarity-determining regions **CNS**: central nervous system **CP**: choroid plexus CSF: cerebrospinal fluid cTECs: cortical thymic epithelial cells **DP**: double positive **DPI**: days post immunization **DT**: diphtheria toxin EAE: experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis **EBV**: Epstein-Barr virus **ETPs**: early T cell progenitor Fezf2: FEZ family zinc finger protein 2 GO: Gene Ontology **HSC**: hematopoietic stem cells **IFN**: interferon **IL**: interleukin **i.p.** : intraperitoneally LFB: Luxol Fast Blue LN: lymph node **MBP**: Myelin basic protein MFI: Median florescence intensity MHC: histocompatibility complex molecule MOG: myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein **MRI**: magnetic resonance imaging

MS: multiple sclerosis mTECs: medullary thymic epithelial cells NKR: natural killer cells receptor **OPCs**: oligodendrocyte precursor cells pan-: polyclonal **PBMC**: peripheral blood mononuclear cells **PLP**: proteolipid protein **PPMS**: primary progressive multiple sclerosis **PRMS**: progressive relapsing multiple sclerosis **pTreg**: peripheral regulatory T cell **RQ**: relative quantitative **RRMS**: relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis SAS: subarachnoid space **SASP**: senescence-associated secretory phenotype **s.c.**: subcutaneous sc-RNA-Seq: single-cell RNA sequencing **SP**: single positive **SPMS**: secondary progressive MS **Tcon**: conventional T cell TCR: T-cell receptor **TECs**: thymic epithelial cells **Teff**: effector T cell **TF**: transcription factor **Th**: helper T cell **TM**: memory T cell **TNF**: tumor necrosis factor **Treg**: regulatory T cell t-SNE: t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding **tTreg**: thymus-derived regulatory T cell

WT: wild-type

# LIST OF TABLES

# CHAPTER I

Table 1. Clinic subtypes of MS and the onset frequencies in young and aged patients

### CHAPTER II

Table 2. Mouse EAE scoring

Table 3. Antibodies used for flow cytometry staining

#### LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

### CHAPTER I

Figure 1. TCR signaling strength decides CD4<sup>SP</sup> thymocyte clone fates.

Figure 2. Participation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in MOG induced EAE.

Figure 3. Basic mechanisms of Treg suppression.

Figure 4. Cytokine microenvironments induce Treg instability and plasticity.

### CHAPTER II

Figure 5. Late-onset EAE mouse model and disease score observation.

Figure 6. Luxol fast blue (LFB) staining.

#### CHAPTER III

**Figure 7.** Establishment of late-onset (aged) mouse EAE model for aged human MS using a standard immunization protocol.

Figure 8. Workflow for EAE induction in C57BL/6 mice with body weight-dependent dosage.

**Figure 9.** EAE score and body weight changes of young and aged female mice, and aged male and female mice using body weight dependent MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide dosage.

Figure 10. Flow cytometric gating strategies of T cell populations in the periphery and CNS.

**Figure 11.** Distributions of pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells in the periphery of young and aged EAE mice.

Figure 12. Foxp3 expressions of peripheral Treg cells in young and aged EAE mice.

**Figure 13.** Distributions of pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells in the CNS of young and aged EAE mice.

Figure 14. Foxp3 expressions of CNS-Treg cells in young and aged EAE mice.

**Figure 15.** Distribution of pan- and MOG-specific CNS-Treg in the CNS of young and aged mice at early disease stage (8-DPI).

#### CHAPTER IV

**Figure 16.** Aged mice have accumulated peripheral Treg cells (pTregs) with severe EAE symptoms.

Figure 17. Transient pTreg inhibition using P300i in aged EAE mice.

Figure 18. Alleviated EAE severity after transient pTreg inhibition in aged EAE mice.

**Figure 19.** Time-course changes in peripheral blood pTreg cells of middle-aged Foxp3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice with transient pTreg depletion.

Figure 20. Alleviation of EAE in aged mice by transient inhibition of the accumulated pan-

pTreg cells was potentially due to restored immune cell trafficking.

**Figure 21.** Foxp3 expression in CNS-Treg cells of aged EAE mice with transient pTreg inhibition.

**Figure 22.** Transient depletion of the accumulated pTreg cells improved Treg CNS trafficking in middle-aged FoxP3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice.

**Figure 23.** Inflammatory cytokine productions by CNS T cells and myeloid cells after transient depletion of pTreg cells in middle-aged FoxP3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice.

### Chapter V

**Figure 24.** Function-associated molecular profile analysis for CNS-Treg plasticity and proinflammatory CNS-CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CNS-CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff cells of EAE mice.

Figure 25. GO enrichment analysis of up-regulated and down-regulated gene sets in aged  $CD4^+$ 

CNS-Teff cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> CNS-Treg cells.

**Figure 26.** Clonal expansion assay in CNS-infiltrated CD4<sup>+</sup> T populations of young and aged EAE mice.

**Figure 27.** Clonal expansion in CNS-infiltrated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells of three young and three aged EAE mice.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my Major Professor, Dr. Dong-Ming Su, and all my Doctoral Committee members: past (Drs. Johnny He and Victor Uteshev) and present (Drs. Rance Berg, Bruce Bunnell, Shaohua Yang, Harlan Jones and Gulab Zode), for their guidance and support throughout my PhD studies. Thank you to the Su Lab members: Dr. Jiyoung Oh, Dr. Olga Sizova, Dr. Rachel Thomas, Den, and Lili Cheng, who have been instrumental in the success of my training and experiments, and have become great friends over the past 5-6 years. I would like also to thank the SBS faculty and staff, the MIG Department, the IACUC and DLAM personnel overseeing our mice, the Flow Core team members: past (Dr. Xiangle Sun) and present (Dr. Sharad Shrestha), the Genomics Core member Dr. Nicky Hales (previously UNTHSC, current affiliation: 10x Genomics) for performing single cell immune profiling, and my CBIM Faculty Advisors past (Dr. Berg) and present (Dr. Kathleen Borgmann). Special thanks to the Dr. Richard Wills and Mr. Dale Long in National Institutes of Health Tetramer Core Facility at Emory University for providing the tetramer reagents for my experiment.

I am also grateful for the funding support from NIH (R01AI121147 to D-M Su) and UNTHSC (Bridge funding 2400037 to D-M. S) to the Su Lab, which helped to fund my work, as well as my 2020-2021 T32 Predoctoral Fellowship funding (AG020494) from Neurobiology of Aging and Alzheimer's Disease to support my research work. I also thank the many colleagues and friends I have made in SBS during my time here at UNTHSC, who have been study buddies and sources of encouragement. I am very grateful to my family and friends for their encouragement and support throughout my life and specifically during my PhD studies.

### ATTRIBUTION OF PUBLISHED WORK

Permission was obtained to utilize my previously published work as part of this Dissertation as long as it was clearly indicated. Therefore, here are the sections taken directly from my published manuscripts:

CHAPTER I. Section 1.2.2 including Figure 1 is adapted from my published review manuscript:

Thomas R, Wang W, Su DM. Contributions of Age-RelatedThymic InvolutiontoImmunosenescence and Inflammaging. Immun Ageing. 2020 10.1186/Jan 20;17:2.doi:s12979020-0173-8. PMID: 31988649; PMCID: PMC6971920.

CHAPTER II. Figure 5, Figure 6 and Table 5 are adapted from my published research manuscript:

Wang W, Thomas R, Oh J, Su DM. Accumulation of pTreg cells is detrimental in late-onset (aged) mouse model of multiple sclerosis. Aging Cell. 2022 Jun;21(6):e13630. doi: 10.1111/acel.13630. Epub 2022 May 26. PMID: 35615905

CHAPTERS III, IV, V. All sections and figures are adapted from my published research manuscript:

Wang W, Thomas R, Oh J, Su DM. Accumulation of pTreg cells is detrimental in late-onset (aged) mouse model of multiple sclerosis. Aging Cell. 2022 Jun;21(6):e13630. doi: 10.1111/ acel.13630. Epub 2022 May 26. PMID: 35615905

#### **Chapter I. Introduction**

#### 1.1 The immune system: innate and adaptive immunity

The immune system is comprised of immune cells and chemicals that protect an individual from infection, toxins, tumor cells (1, 2). The immune system can be divided into two lines of defense: innate immunity and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity is the first line of defense to an intruding pathogen used by the host to immediately response and clear a wide range of pathogens. Adaptive immunity, on the other hand, has a delayed immune response to pathogens. Most notedly, adaptive immunity has higher specificity to antigens than innate immunity and has the capacity of memory to more effectively clean up antigens in a subsequent exposure to the antigens (3). Innate and adaptive immunity are complementarily and synergically fight against abnormal antigens in the host and maintain the homeostasis (1, 2).

Innate immunity is comprised of four types of defensive barriers, including anatomic (skin and mucous membrane), physiologic (temperature, low pH and chemical mediators), endocytic and phagocytic, and inflammatory (4). Innate immune cells can rapidly produce cytokines and chemokines to recruit more immune cells to sites of infection and inflammation, thereby localizing and cleaning up pathogens. Numerous cells are involved in the innate immune response such as macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, mast cells, natural killer cells and innate lymphoid cells (4). Among the innate immune cells, dendritic cells are the most specialized antigen presenting cells, which present processed antigens to T cells and therefore connect the innate immunity and adaptive immunity (5). The initiation of adaptive immune response, which is aided by innate immune system, is critical when innate immunity is not sufficient enough to eliminate infectious agents or other intruding foreign antigens (4). T cells and B cells are the major cell populations of the adaptive immunity. The primary advantages of the adaptive immune response include a) a more specific recognition of non-self antigens using their antigen specific T cell receptors or B cell receptors; b) the development of an immunologic memory that can quickly eliminate a specific pathogen should subsequent infections occur (2); and c) maintaining immune tolerance to self-reactive damage (6, 7). In the following sections, T cells will be more specifically discussed and related with the development of a neuroautoimmune disease multiple sclerosis (MS).

#### 1.2 T cells: development, differentiation and their potentials for CNS autoimmunity

The development of T cells, particularly referring to  $\alpha/\beta$  T cells, is primarily in the thymus, which is the central and primary lymphoid organ for cellular immunity. T cell development and differentiation include intricate processes, such as T-cell receptor (TCR) rearrangement and positive and negative selection. The generation of TCR diversity and specificity by TCR gene rearrangement and the following positive and negative selection are two critical steps for the capacity of T cells to efficiently recognize pathogenic antigens along with immune tolerance for self-tissues (8-10). Any perturbation to the thymic selection will result in disorders in health. For example, if the central nervous system (CNS) antigen-specific effector T (Teff) cells escape from negative selection and are released to the periphery from the thymus, they could induce neuroinflammatory diseases by recognizing either the CNS abnormal antigens (e.g. amyloid  $\beta$  in Alzheimer's disease) (11) or CNS self-antigens (e.g. myelin sheath antigens in MS/EAE) (12, 13).

#### 1.2.1 TCR Rearrangement for TCR Specificity and Diversity

The early stage of thymocyte (immature T cell) development is featured with gene arrangement for TCR (we focus on the  $\alpha/\beta$  TCR in this dissertation) diversity and specificity. TCR specificity of each T cell and TCR diversity of the whole T cell repertoire are the fundamentals for the recognition of a broad spectrum of specific antigens in T immune responses. To generate productive TCRs, thymocytes undergo somatic V(D)J recombination of TCR genes to encode TCR $\alpha$  and TCR $\beta$  chains. In this process, the recombination activating genes (RAG), including RAG1 and RAG2, are the key enzymes that recruit V, D, and J coding sequences and facilitate recombination (9, 10). After rearrangement, the hypervariable regions or complementarity-determining regions (CDRs) of a TCR serves as the specific antigen-recognizing component (9, 10). The theoretical TCR $\alpha\beta$  repertoire diversity can be around 10<sup>15</sup> and 10<sup>20</sup> in healthy adult mice and humans, respectively (14-16). However, one study found the functional splenic naïve  $\alpha\beta$ TCR repertoire diversity of 1-2 x 10<sup>6</sup> in healthy adult mice (17), which can partially due to the positive and negative selection we will discuss later.

### 1.2.2 T cell Selection and Imperfect Central Tolerance for CNS Autoimmunity

After the generation of TCR for each thymocyte, further interactions between thymic epithelial cells (TECs) and immature T cells (or thymocytes) determine the mature fates of thymocytes. This involves signaling entering the immature thymocytes. One of the most important signaling is the positive selection signaling. This happens at the stage of double positive (DP, i.e. expression of CD4 and CD8 co-receptors) thymocytes. Survival of the DP thymocytes rely on their TCRs' recognition with histocompatibility complex class II molecule (MHC-II) or MHC-I

molecule expressed by cortical TECs (cTECs). This process determines development toward CD4, which is selected by MHC-II, or CD8, which is selected by MHC-I, single positive (SP) lineage (18-20).

Following the positive selection, a sufficient TCR diversity can be not only essential for a robust immune response to various foreign antigens, but also for self-tissue antigens. Therefore, it is important for CD4<sup>SP</sup> and CD8<sup>SP</sup> thymocytes to migrate to the thymic medulla for negative selection to eliminate these self-reactive thymocytes and for establishing central tolerance (19, 21). To take CD4<sup>SP</sup> thymocytes as an example, negative selection depends on avidity of the interaction between their TCRs and self-antigen (peptide)/ MHC-II complexes expressed by medullary TECs (mTECs). More specifically, 1) high avidity of the interaction between self-reactive TCRs and self-peptide/MHC-II complexes induces strong TCR signaling in SP thymocytes cells, leading to clonal depletion by negative selection; 2) low avidity of this interaction induces thymocyte differentiation basically into foreign antigen-specific conventional T (Tcon) cells, and 3) intermediate avidity of this interaction in the presence of IL-2 induces thymocyte differentiation into CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> thymus-derived Treg (tTreg) cells, which process is also termed agonist selection (Fig. 1) (22-26). Self-reactive Tcon cell depletion by negative section and CD4+Foxp3+ tTreg generation via agonist selection are the two mechanisms of the generation of T cell central tolerance in the thymus to minimize and control autoimmunity (27). Of note, autoimmune regulator (Aire) gene and FEZ family zinc finger protein 2 (Fezf2) gene are two critical transcription factors (TFs) regulating promiscuous expression of self-antigen by mTECs for central tolerance (28-30). Notably, Aire gene defect causes severe autoimmunity, such as autoimmune polyendocrineopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (31).

Finally, these subsets of CD4<sup>SP</sup> naïve T cells including most numbers of foreign antigenspecific Tcon cells, small numbers of self-reactive Tcon cells, and self-recognizing tTreg cells migrate to peripheral lymphoid tissues. In the peripheral lymphoid tissues (secondary lymphoid tissues), certain foreign antigen-specific Tcon cells and the self-reactive Tcon cells could potentially recognize the CNS abnormal antigens (e.g. amyloid  $\beta$  in Alzheimer's disease) (11) or CNS self-antigens (e.g. myelin sheath antigens in MS/EAE) (12, 13). The escape of myelinspecific Tcon cells from deletion in the thymus can be attributed to low affinity of myelin-specific TCRs, and/or low-expressed myelin peptide/MHC-II complex by mTECs. This was confirmed by T cells specific for different epitopes of myelin basic protein (MBP) in B10.Pl mice, whose MBP<sub>121-140</sub> and MHC-II forms a stable complex and induces depletion, but MBP<sub>Ac1-11</sub> and MHC-II forms an unstable complex to fails their depletion (32). However, the CNS parenchyma expresses abundant myelin antigens that can be effectively presented by antigen presenting cells (APCs) to Tcon cells bearing the low-affinity myelin-specific TCRs, thereby, these myelinspecific Tcon cells can be activated. As the function of negative selection is decreased with thymic aging, more CNS-antigen specific T cells might escape from negative selection and they are released to the periphery for CNS autoimmunity (33). Notably, another mechanism of central tolerance is to generate tTreg cells, and tTreg cells migrate to the periphery and suppress the selfreactive Tcon cell-mediated autoimmunity (34). However, the efficiency of this mechanism can be declined with thymic involution with aging, because as found in our recent study, the involved thymus may create "holes" in tTreg clone repertoire for self-antigens (35). This may fail the Treg cells' recognition of certain self-antigens that are recognized by self-reactive Tcon cells, leading to an imbalanced activation of Tcon versus Treg cells and losing control of autoimmune response.

Therefore, the skewed tTreg TCR repertoire can be a potential contributor to increased CNS autoimmunity in the aged individuals, which is a focus of this project.



**Figure 1. TCR signaling strength decides CD4<sup>SP</sup> thymocyte clone fates**. Interaction between self-peptide/MHC-II complex on mTEC and self-reactive TCR on CD4<sup>SP</sup> thymocyte produces three types of signaling strength: (1) a strong signal leads to negative selection, resulting in thymocyte depletion; (2) an intermediate signal leads to tTreg generation; (3) a weak signal results in thymocyte differentiation into Tcon cells. Aged involuted thymus has reduced self-antigen presentation by mTECs, which shifts signaling strength from strong to intermediate and relatively enhances polyclonal tTreg generation (black arrow—a); while in some cases, antigen-specific interactions exhibit an even weaker signal, resulting in diminished antigen-specific tTreg cells and increased antigen-specific Tcon cells (black arrow—b). (Adapted from *Rachel Thomas, Weikan Wang, Dong-Ming Su*.

Contributions of Age-Related Thymic Involution to Immunosenescence and Inflammaging. Immun Ageing. 2020 Jan 20;17:2.)

### **1.3 Multiple Sclerosis**

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a T cell-mediated autoimmune neuroinflammatory disease, and it is affecting millions of people worldwide (36). MS is characterized by the demyelination of axons of neurons in the central nervous system (CNS) and it progresses into the loss of axons, leading to neurological dysfunctions (37). The etiology and mechanism of MS onset and severity are not yet fully understood. One of the accepted mechanisms is that the initial contact of certain viral antigens or superantigens with molecular similarity (mimicry) with some CNS myelin antigens elicit CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T (Th) cells and macrophages to produce proinflammatory cytokines including interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ , interleukin (IL)-17 and IL-1. These cytokines lead to productions of metalloproteinases, which breakdown the blood–brain barrier (BBB), and the activated Th cells up-regulate integrins such as VLA-4. Consequently, Th cells and other immune cells infiltrate into the CNS and induce neuroinflammation and demyelination (38-40).

The etiology of MS involves environmental exposure and genetic susceptibility. Two mostly investigated environmental factors associated with MS include high latitude regions and viral infections. Global distribution of MS is generally increased with the distance from the equator (41) and the north Europeans are the most susceptible population (42). Migrants from high-risk to low-risk regions in childhood have reduced risk for the disease and vice versa (43). Viral exposure is another important risk factor as infection with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) at an early age increases the susceptibility to MS (44). The risk of a relapse is also increased after viral exposure, especially to upper respiratory gastrointestinal viral infections (45, 46). One of the well elucidated mechanisms for the association between EBV and MS is cross-reactivity by T cells recognizing both myelin antigen MBP and an EBV peptide (47). Other relevant environmental factors include low sun exposure, vitamin D insufficiency, physical and emotional stressors, air pollutants,

cigarette smoking, and toxins (48-52). MS has a familial aggregation, indicating the effect of genetic susceptibility to the disease (53). Primarily, MHC alleles DR15 and DQ6 have been reported as significant genetic risks for MS (54-56), and DR15 haplotype is considered to be the major genetic factor for northern European patients (55). Recent study has clarified a convincing mechanism regrading DR15 haplotype associated MS susceptibility. Basically, DR15 derived self-peptides HLA-DR- $\alpha$ -SPs and HLA-DR- $\beta$ -SPs have molecule mimicry with EBV antigens, thus autoreactive T memory cells preactivated by HLA-DR- $\alpha$ -SPs and HLA-DR- $\beta$ -SPs are highly activated when exposed to EBV. As these autoreactive memory T (TM) cells also recognize myelin antigen, the individuals are highly susceptible to MS (56).

MS patients can present almost any neurological symptoms dependent on the regions of demyelination and inflammation in the CNS, including cerebrum, optic nerves, cerebellum and cerebellar pathway, brain stem and different segments of the spinal cord. Among all the symptoms, autonomic, visual, motor, and sensory dysfunctions are the most common (43). The demyelination foci can by determined by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which shows multiple hyperintense lesions in T1 and T2-weighted images (57, 58). Initial inflammation in most patients is usually transient and it is followed by durable remyelination, thereby, neurological dysfunction can recover. However, the pathological changes become dominated with extensive microglial activation and chronic neurodegeneration, leading to progressive disability (43). The disease can evolve for several decades and lead to death in 2/3 cases due to the increased complications of infections with advanced neurological disability, and the median survival time after onset can vary from 28 years to 45 years (59-61). Based on the characteristics of the symptom severity and course progression, subtypes of MS were first formally defined by the U.S. National Multiple Sclerosis Society Advisory Committee depending on the disease courses (Table 1) (62) including:

- (1) Progressive relapsing MS (PRMS): progressive disease from onset, with clear acute relapses, with or without full recovery;
- (2) Relapsing remitting MS (RRMS): episodes of acute worsening of neurologic functioning with total or partial recovery of disease;
- (3) Primary progressive MS (PPMS): steadily worsening neurologic function from the beginning without any distinct relapses or remissions;
- (4) Secondary progressive MS (SPMS): progressive course of neurologic dysfunction with or without relapses.

MS diagnosis includes medical history, MRI imaging, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis and evoked potentials. Obtaining a medical history should consider the onset of the first symptoms, disease course, food habits, and history of medications taken. MRIs can localize most demyelination lesions and tissue damages throughout the CNS. Evoked potentials test of visual, brain stem auditory, and somatosensory evoked potentials indicate demyelination in the optic nerve and specific areas of CNS. In addition, CSF analysis for MBP and IgG and blood sample analysis may be diagnostically helpful (63). Nevertheless, it is necessary to exclude other diseases that present similar symptoms or laboratory examination results to multiple sclerosis, including vascular diseases, spinal cord compression, vitamin B12 deficiency, and CNS infection (64). Ē

Subtype	Patterns	Severity	% Onset in young patients	% Onset in Aged patients
Progressive- relapsing MS (PRMS)	Inn	+	5%	~8%
Relapsing- remitting MS (RRMS)		+	80 – 85%	< 40%
Primary progressive MS (PPMS)		+++	10%	~29%
Secondary progressive MS (SPMS)		++	-	~26%

Table 1. Clinic subtypes of MS and the onset frequencies in young and aged patients

#### 1.4 T Cell-Mediated Mechanisms of MS pathology and Its Animal Model EAE

In order to have a better understanding of MS pathology, mouse EAE model is used for the research of T cell involved mechanism of MS (40, 65). EAE is induced by (1) activating myelin-specific T cells by immunizing naïve T cells with myelin proteins or peptides, including myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), MBP, or proteolipid protein (PLP), which are expressed by the myelin sheath in the CNS, along with adjuvants capable of activating the innate immune system, and (2) increasing the permeability of the BBB by a systemic treatment of pertussis toxin (PT) (40, 66). This protocol mimics MS in terms of the myelin-specific T cells mediated neuroinflammation and demyelination. The major differences between MS and induced EAE are (1) EAE requires an external sensitization with a known CNS antigen (i.e. MOG, MBP, or PLP), whereas in MS no artificial sensitization is induced by a determined toxin, but more likely induced by systemic inflammation. With this regard, EAE is a preferred model for immunological and pathological study.

Before the onset of CNS pathology of MS/EAE, myelin-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, including Tcon and Treg cells, are firstly primed by antigens presented by APCs in the periphery. These antigens include myelin proteins/peptides that are injected into mice for EAE induction (66), environmental factors with molecule mimicry for myelin antigens (56), and myelin antigens from the CNS-draining cervical lymph nodes (67, 68). Activated myelin-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> Tcon cells are differentiated into Teff cells, including INF- $\gamma$  producing Th1 cells and IL-17 producing Th17 cells, before migrating into the CNS (Fig.2) (69).

The barrier system of the CNS, specifically (1) the blood–brain barrier (BBB) surrounding parenchyma, and (2) the blood-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) barrier surrounding the brain choroid plexus (CP) block the infiltration of most immune cells in the physiological state. However, activated T cells can cross the barriers due to their expression of adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors which interact with the barrier-expressed adhesion molecules and local chemokines in the inflammatory conditions (70). The subarachnoid space (SAS) is underneath the blood-CSF barrier, and it is the initial site where CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells infiltrate and get reactivated by MHC-II<sup>+</sup> APCs (71), and this initiation can be attributed to the constitutively highly expressed adhesion molecules at the CP (72). The expression of these adhesion molecules, especially ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, is regulated by local IFN- $\gamma$ , which facilities the trafficking of peripheral immune cells into the CNS (73). The reactivation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells at SAS mediates inflammation augmentation and thereby activates vascular endothelial cells, which further recruits T cells into the perivascular space. Inflammation mediated by increased T cell activation in the SAS triggers the activation of proximal microglia, which causes distal microglia activation and upregulates adhesion molecules on parenchymal vasculature in broader areas for more infiltration of immune cells through the BBB and the brain-CSF barrier (74).

Initialization of MS/EAE is mediated by CNS-infiltrating CD4<sup>+</sup> Th1 and CD4<sup>+</sup> Th17 cells. Th1 cells requires IL-12 for differentiation and they are characterized by the secretion of IFN- $\gamma$ (75, 76). The role of Th1 cells involved in MS pathology is determined by increased cytokine IL-12 and Th1 cells in the both the CSF and the inflamed CNS parenchyma of MS patients (77, 78). Furthermore, MS was exacerbated by the administration of IFN- $\gamma$  (79). The role of Th1 cells in EAE is also supported by the IFN- $\gamma$  producing Th1 cells in the CNS and the disease induction by adoptive transfer of Th1 cells (80, 81). However, it is striking that mice deficient in IL-12 and IFN- $\gamma$  also develop EAE (82-84), whereas IL-23 deficient mice are completely resistant to EAE (85). Given the crucial role of IL-23 for Th17 development (86) and the presence of Th17 infiltration into the CNS during EAE (87), CNS-infiltrated Th17 cells, which secret IL-17, are confirmed as another pathogenic T cell subsets for EAE induction. Further studies also suggested IL-17 and IFN-y co-expressed CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with MOG specificity contributed to EAE pathogenesis (88). IFN-y and IL-17 contained inside the CNS serve as potent proinflammatory cytokines to activate CNS-resident innate immune cells including microglia and astrocytes (89-92). This activation can promote the disease in two ways: firstly, it stimulates the proinflammatory cytokine (IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-23, TNF- $\alpha$ , etc.) productions by microglia and astrocytes along with CNS-infiltrating macrophages to augment neuroinflammation (93-95), which induce demyelination followed by significant neuronal loss (96, 97); secondly, it upregulates MHC-II expression by microglia, astrocytes, and CNS-infiltrating macrophages, which facilitates myelin antigen presentation to Th cells for their further activation (98). In addition to the pathogenic process by Th1 and Th17 cells, CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells which suppress proinflammatory T cells and other inflammatory immune cells (99) are regarded as protective cells (34, 100-105). Treg suppressive function involves multiple mechanisms via targeting to Teff cells or APCs (Fig. 3) (99). It was reported that transferring Treg cells into MOG-induced EAE mice attenuated disease (106). EAE severity was inversely related with the frequency of specific Treg cells in the inflamed CNS (107). In addition, another Th cell subset, Th2 cells, is also reported to be involved in EAE, but they play either protective (108) or pathogenic(109) roles, thus the role of Th2 cells in MS and EAE needs further investigations.

Although CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are the traditional primary actors in MS/EAE pathogenesis and immunoregulation, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells also infiltrate into the CNS of MS patients (110). Emerging

13

evidence shows that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are also involved in CNS autoimmunity (111, 112). These CNSinfiltrated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have either pathogenic (113, 114) or regulatory (112, 115) roles to either exacerbate or mitigate neuroinflammation during CNS autoimmunity (111, 112). Regarding MS/EAE immunopathogenesis, myelin-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells exacerbate brain, though not spinal cord, inflammation via a Fas ligand-dependent mechanism to promote lesion formation in the brain (116). IFN- $\gamma$  in the inflamed MS/EAE CNS upregulates MHC-I expression on oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs), thereby amplifying OPCs' antigen presenting capacity to CD8 T cells in a positive feedback loop (117). In addition to inflammation-mediated myelin sheath damage, CD8 T cells may also directly induce demyelination, as MBP-specific CD8 T cell lines lyse oligodendrocytes in a co-culture system (118, 119). In addition, IL-17A secreting CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, termed Tc17 cells, in the CNS support Th17 cell-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis (114). In the immuno-regulatory aspect, the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in MS/EAE remains controversial and the concept of the bona fide  $CD8^+$  Treg subsets is not unanimously accepted (115, 120, 121). This is due to negligible numbers of  $CD8^+Foxp3^+$  thymocytes (122), low proportion (<0.5% in mice) in a heterogenous peripheral T cell pool, uncertain phenotypic identity (Foxp3<sup>+</sup>, CD122<sup>+</sup>, CD8αα<sup>+</sup>, etc.), and unclear regulatory mechanisms (via cytokines and/or direct killing?) (115, 123). Nevertheless, the suppressive function of CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in MS/EAE disease has received attention (115, 120, 121, 124), and CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg cells potentially cooperates with CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg cells (125) in suppression of neuronal autoimmune inflammation (126).



**Figure 2. Participation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in MOG induced EAE.** Naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells migrate from thymus to the periphery after selection. Upon the stimulation of myelin antigen (e.g. MOG) presented by APCs, MOG-specific Tcon cells and Treg cells are activated, among which MOG-specific Tcon cells are differentiated into effector T (Teff) cells, including INF- $\gamma$ producing Th1 cells and IL-17 producing Th17 cells, before migrating into the CNS. Due to the increased permeability of BBB and CP, Th1, Th17 and Treg cells infiltrate into the CNS, along with other immune cells. Inside the CNS, Teff and Treg cells are reactivated by MOG antigen presented by CNS-resident APCs, including astrocytes and microglia. As a result, highly activated Teff cells secret large amounts of proinflammatory cytokines, especially INF- $\gamma$  and IL-17 to mediated neuroinflammation, which leads to the demyelination of neuronal axons. However, Treg cells suppress the effector function of Teff cells and other proinflammatory immune cells to alleviate neuroinflammation.



**Figure 3. Basic mechanisms of Treg suppression.** (a) Inhibitory cytokines IL-10, IL-35 and TGF-β to suppress Teff cells. (b) Granzymes and perforin-dependent cytolysis of Teff cells. (c) Metabolic disruption includes high-affinity CD25 (IL-2R $\alpha$ )-dependent cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis, cAMP-mediated inhibition, and CD39- and/or CD73-generated, adenosine receptor 2A (A<sub>2A</sub>R)-mediated immunosuppression. (d) Targeting dendric cells (DCs) that modulate DC maturation / function such as lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG3)–MHC-class-II mediated suppression of DC maturation, and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA4)–CD80/CD86-mediated induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), which is an immunosuppressive molecule made by DCs. (Adapted from *Dario A A Vignali*, *Lauren W Collison, Creg J Workman. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol*. 2008 *Jul;*8(7):523-32.)

#### **1.5 Late-onset MS in aged patients**

The ages of onset for most cases of MS range from 20 to 40 years old, therefore, most studies (on etiology, pathology, immunology, disease courses, etc.) have focused on young MS patients or used young mouse (2-3 months old) EAE models. However, late-onset MS whose manifestation occurs after the age of 60 years, has been reported in the elderly (127-130). In addition, the mean age of the MS population is rising (128). It was reported that 14% of MS patients aged 65 years and older in 2010 (131). Aging is a significant factor that shapes the MS disease course and correlates with increased disease comorbidities (128), such as cardiovascular comorbidities (132) and greater disability (133). In addition, aging also remodels MS disease types or courses (Table 1). Patients over the age of 65 are more likely to have severe progressive courses, with 29% patients having primary progressive MS (the disease progresses without remissions, degree of severity is defined as "+++"). 26% having second progressive MS (progression of the disease causes irreversible damage and disability, degree of severity is defined as "++"), and 8% with progressive relapsing MS (disease progresses with acute relapses, with or without full recovery, degree of severity is defined as "+"). However, most (about 80%) of the young patients have a relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) course (degrees of severity is defined as "+") (Table 1) (128, 133). When compared to young mice, middle-aged mice have a delayed EAE onset, but after onset, the disease showed more severe outcomes than the young onset (134). This compelling evidence shows that pathological severity and disease course of MS/EAE disease in young and old individuals are distinctively different. Therefore, the underlying mechanism of the severity and disease course of late-onset (aged) MS remains to be investigated, especially T cell mediated mechanisms, for the development of therapeutic strategies.

#### **1.6 Characteristics of the aged T cell immune system**

Generally, immunity in the elderly exhibits decreased normal immune responses (i.e. immunosenescence) to pathogens, leading to increased vulnerability to infectious diseases and cancers, and decreased response to vaccines (135-137). One of the major players in immunosenescence is the senescence of T cell immune system, which is characterized by decreased immune responses to infections. The other major player is *increased* immune responses to self-tissues, which is a contributor to inflammaging (138). Inflammaging refers to increased abnormal non- or specific-immune responses to self-tissues (hyper-self-reactivity), leading to chronic sterile, low-grade inflammation. These two extremes: *immunosenescence and inflammaging synergistically* result in progressive dysfunction and autoimmunity (139).

Age-related T cell immune system remodeling includes the following aspects: (1) agerelated thymic involution leading to decreased newly generated naïve T cells (140) and increased output of autoreactive T cells (33); (2) enhanced thymic Treg generation (141), along with TCR holes created in the Treg pool (35); (3) accumulated peripheral Treg cells (142-145); (4) Senescent T cells involved senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) (146); (5) Increased clonal expansion of memory T cells with functional exhaustion (147).

These dysfunction via the T cell immune system remodeling primarily begins with the atrophied thymus (148). Age-related thymic involution is basically attributed to (1) deficit of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) leading to insufficient early T cell progenitor (ETP) entry into the aged thymus (149, 150), and (2) disruption of thymic stromal cell homeostasis, mainly TECs, especially due to the declined *FoxN1* expression by TECs with aging (151, 152). Thymic involution results in declined thymic output of newly generated naïve T cells and restricted TCR diversity (139, 140, 153), which causes a compromising the detection pathogens and poor

vaccination efficacy (135-137). With deep sequencing approach, TCR diversity in general has been confirmed to be decreased linearly with age in humans (154). More notedly, TCR diversity can be skewed in clonal size distributions, which may explain the susceptibility to certain agerelated disorders (155). Our recent studies have found that the involuted thymus is more prone to generate autoreactive T cells (33) and fails to select certain antigen specific Treg clones (35). This skew in TCR clones is attributed to impaired negative selection of thymocytes due to dysfunctional mTECs in the aged involuted thymus. To take CD4<sup>SP</sup> thymocytes as an example, aged mTECs have impaired capacity for self-peptide/MHC-II ligand expression due to the decreased expressions of Aire gene and MHC-II for self-peptide presentation (33, 141, 148), therefore, a strong signaling strength mediated by high affinity TCR in self-reactive T cells shifts either to an intermediate strength, which favors CD4<sup>SP</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> tTreg cell generation (Fig. 1, arrow-a), or to a low strength, which generates Tcon cells with self-reactivity (Fig. 1, arrow-b). As a result, selfreactive T cells may escape from depletion by negative selection and migrate into the periphery. Self-reactive T cells lead to tissue damage, which results in a sterile, low-grade, chronic inflammatory condition, termed "inflammaging" (33, 156, 157). Therefore, in the aged T cell immune system, the decreased normal immune response and enhanced self-reactivity comprise two sides of the same coin (138).

Treg cells are accumulated in the periphery of the age mice and humans. This is attributed to two mechanisms: (1) enhanced tTreg generation by aged thymus allows relatively increased Treg output to the aged periphery (141), and (2) progressive downregulation of pro-apoptotic *Bim* expression by Treg cells with age supports Treg survival in the periphery (142, 144). Although Treg cells are crucial for maintaining peripheral tolerance, since they play a vital role in control autoimmune diseases, including systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis (158), type-I

diabetes (159), and MS/EAE (160, 161), ample evidence shows that accumulated pTreg cells have more disadvantages than advantages. This evidence came from at least in three types of diseases: a) In immune responses to chronic infection, such as Leishmania major, the old mice showed a high proportion of pTreg cells and a low capacity to clear the infection, while Treg depletion increased Teff function in the elderly (162). Thus, the increased pTreg cells present a blockade to fighting against infection (163). b) In antitumor immunity, tumor-infiltrated Treg cells usually enhance the suppression of CD8-mediated antitumor immunity to help tumor cell survival (23, 164, 165). c) In neuronal chronic inflammation recovery, for example, in Alzheimer's disease (AD), transient and partial depletion of accumulated peripheral Foxp3 <sup>+</sup>Treg cells caused improvement of amyloid-beta (A $\beta$ ) plaque clearance, amelioration of neuro-inflammation, and recovery in cognitive decline demonstrated in an AD mouse model (72). Mechanistically, accumulated pTreg cells suppress IFN-y production by CD45 <sup>+</sup>leukocytes residing at the CP, which reduced IFN- $\gamma$ , thereby, failing to activate CP endothelium for the expressions of adhesion molecules, including ICAM-1 and VCAM-1. These molecules are the important mediators for the trafficking of Treg cells and reparative monocytes into the CNS for pathology resolution. Therefore, transient reduction of pTreg recues the impaired trafficking of immune cells into the inflamed CNS (72). It is not yet fully understood why more protective Treg cells than pathogenic Teff cells infiltrate via CP after transient pTreg reduction. It was reported the CNS-infiltration of Treg cells during neuroinflammation is dependent on their surface VLA-4, which is the ligand of CP expressed VCAM-1; however, CNS-infiltration of Th1 cells is independent of VLA-4 (166). Therefore, increased VCAM-1 after transient pTreg reduction can facilitate Treg trafficking more than Teff cells. Taken together, increased pan-pTreg cells in the elderly may be harmful, rather

than beneficial, for neuronal autoimmune diseases, which will be investigated by this proposed research.

Senescent T cells are accumulated with aging, and they are dysfunctional, terminally differentiated T cells (139). T cell senescence has been considered as a result of persistent lifelong antigen stimulation, particularly by chronic virus infection (167), because repeated antigen stimulation and replication can induce DNA damage of T cells, termed replicative senescence (168, 169). The dysfunction of senescent T cells is usually associated with the lost expression of CD28, and CD28 is a co-stimulatory molecule required for the second signal distinct from the TCRpeptide/MHC interaction to activate T cells and prevent anergy (170). Therefore, loss of CD28 dampens the TCR-dependent immune response of T cells (168). However, these T cells acquire chronic production of proinflammatory mediators including tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and IFN- $\gamma$  (140, 171), which contributes to inflammaging conditions for age-related diseases (172-174). Loss of CD28 in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is an important hallmark of T cell senescence in humans, and thus CD28<sup>-neg</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are the most investigated senescent T cells (175, 176). It was reported that by the age of 80, 50–60% of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells lose their CD28 expression (177). In addition to the reduced co-stimulatory TCR signaling mediated by CD28, CD28-negCD8+ T cells also present reduced TCR diversity, therefore, this T cell population presents decreased productions of IL-2 and perforin, and fails in activation and proliferation upon antigen exposure (178, 179). CD28<sup>-neg</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are found in up to 70% of people over 50 years old (175). CD28<sup>-neg</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is accompanied by a defect in CD154 expression, and thus they are incapable of helping B cell activation (180). However, although CD28<sup>-neg</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have lost normal helper function, they produce substantial amounts of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  (181) and they can be autoreactive in some diseases (182, 183). Recently, age-associated cytotoxic CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  production

have been identified in human supercentenarians (184). This cell population has a switch from TCR expression to natural killer cells receptor (NKR) expression, which supports their antigen independent cytotoxic effector functions (185). The proinflammatory profiles of accumulated senescent T cells contributes to inflammaging and thereby predispose aged individuals to neuroinflammatory diseases (186), which is an important rationale of our study on late-onset MS/EAE.

Accumulation of memory T (TM) cells with age is a sign of T cell immune aging. Within the TM population, certain numbers of cells are functionally exhausted and gain senescent characteristics. These senescent TM cells commonly secret pro-inflammatory cytokines to contribute to inflammaging (187). Accumulation of TM cells is associated with age-related thymic involution, because the maintenance of naive T cell pool in the periphery mostly relies on thymic output. However, if there are insufficient naïve T cells, peripheral clonal expansion of existing T cells by homeostatic proliferation will be enhanced, which results in oligo-clonal expansion and eventually reduces the TCR diversity (188). In addition, the turnover rates of naïve T cells by peripheral division also decline with age, especially CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, leading to a naïve-memory imbalance (189). Aside from the intrinsic deficit, this age-related decline is also attributed to the compromised microenvironment of aged secondary lymphoid organs (190, 191). In addition to aging, infection is also an important factor to alter the microenvironment. The persistent differentiation from naïve T cells to TM cells has been conventionally considered as the life-long antigen stimulation (192); Furthermore, cumulative evidence supports the notion of "virtual memory T cells" accumulation with aging (193, 194). Virtual memory T cells are foreign antigen inexperienced and tend to be differentiated into senescent memory T cell under cytokine IL-15

stimulation (195), and aged individual have an increased IL-15 production (196) to support this differentiation.

Taken together, senescent T cell immune system with age fails to mount rapid and precise TCR dependent responses against pathogenic antigens; it instead acquires increased autoimmunity to self-tissues and an aberrant proinflammatory state. This alteration increased the risk of agerelated cardiovascular, metabolic, autoimmune and neurodegenerative diseases (197).

#### **1.7 Treg instability and plasticity**

Although Treg cells are conventionally identified as the immune suppressive T cells, they can acquire instability and plasticity under inflammatory conditions. If their instability and plasticity are increased, their suppressive functions are impaired (198). Treg instability refers to the diminished Foxp3 expression with decreased suppressive function, and these Treg cells are termed "ex-Foxp3" T cells (199, 200). Treg plasticity refers to the gain of the phenotypes of other Th cell subsets, especially the proinflammatory IFN-γ producing Th1 and IL-17 producing Th17 cells, thus, they are termed Th1-like Treg cells and Th17-like Treg cells. Th-like Treg cells have a declined suppressive function on Teff cells and other inflammatory cells (201, 202). Increased instability and plasticity in Treg cells are determined in many autoimmune diseases, and these Treg cells contribute to the progression of autoimmune diseases, including type I diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, and multiple sclerosis (203-206). Therefore, to understand the conversion conditions and effects of Treg instability and plasticity are a critical key to the understanding of T cell mediated mechanisms of MS and EAE.

Foxp3 stability is crucial for the maintenance of Treg cell function, because conditional deletion of a *Foxp3* allele in mature Treg cells lose their suppressive function (207, 208). "ex-

23
Foxp3" T cells derived from tTreg were found in the CNS of MOG peptide-induced EAE mice at the preclinical and peak stages of the disease, and they impaired the disease resolution (206). Given that some Tcon cells can transiently express Foxp3 and then lose Foxp3 expression to obtain Teff cell phenotypes (209, 210), the mechanism of the gain of Teff phenotypes by Treg cells is considered as cellular heterogeneity instead of reprogramming (211). Nevertheless, several lines of investigation described that the lost/diminished Foxp3 expression by Treg cells or conversion of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Th-like Treg cells occur in response to specific signaling events, especially inflammatory environment (Fig. 4) (198). Treg plasticity can be induced by inflammatory cytokines (198). Th1-like Treg cells found in MS patients were recapitulated in vitro by culture of Treg cells isolated form healthy individuals with IL-12, a cytokine for Th1 differentiation (212). In addition, IL-12 is able to induce IFN- $\gamma^+$  Th1-like Treg cells with the expressions of Th1-related markers, including T-bet, CXCR3 and CCR5 (212, 213). Moreover, Th1-like Treg cells presented a dramatically decreased suppressive function in IFN- $\gamma$  dependent manner (205). Similar to cytokine IL-12 induced Th1-like Treg conversion, IL-6 is able to induce IL-17 production by preactivated CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in culture (214). In addition, human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC)-derived Th17-like Treg cells were also reported to lose their suppressive capacity upon strong proinflammatory cytokine condition in the presence of IL-1ß and IL-6 (215). Indeed, instability and plasticity can co-exist in Treg cells under the same inflammatory condition or inflammatory disease. For example, synovial fibroblast-derived IL-6 converted CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells into IL-17<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>-neg</sup> Th17 cells in active rheumatoid arthritis (216). Likewise, ex-Foxp3 T cells were found with IFN- $\gamma$  expression in the inflamed CNS of EAE mice (206)

Given the reduced suppressive function and/or elevated proinflammatory feature, Treg instability and plasticity endows ex-Foxp3 T cells and Th1- and Th17-like Treg cells with the pathogenic roles for enhancing autoimmune diseases. The chronic inflammatory condition in the aged individuals, i.e. inflammaging, can be favorable for Treg instability and plasticity. Therefore, it remains to investigate whether Treg instability and plasticity are enhanced under inflammaging condition in the aged individuals, thereby, contributing to severe neuroinflammation and symptom in elderly MS patients and aged EAE mice.



**Figure 4. Cytokine microenvironments induce Treg instability and plasticity.** Specific cytokine microenvironments can induce Foxp3 loss in Treg cells and repolarize Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells into various Th-like Teff cells.

#### **1.8 Project Significance**

#### **1.8.1** Problem and Central Hypothesis

Today, people are living longer and living healthier, biomedical research for healthy aging is urgently required. However, many age-related disorders emerging in the elderly. For example, late-onset MS in the elderly has been reported, and it presented more progressive disease course than MS in young patients (127-130). In addition, the mean age of the MS population is rising (128). MS is a T cell-mediated autoimmune demyelinating disease (37). The aged T cell immune system demonstrates different characteristics from the young, exhibiting diminished normal T cell immune responses, i.e. immunosenescence (217, 218), enhanced generation of self-reactive T cells and pan-tTreg cells (33, 141, 219-221), and accumulated pan-pTreg cells in the aged periphery (142-145). Notably, although protective Treg cells are accumulated in the peripheral immune system of aged individuals, the severity of MS is increased in the aged patients (Table 1). Based on the background, we raised our <u>central questions</u>: Why are the MS symptoms severer in the aged patients, whereas aged patients have accumulated peripheral Treg cells? What is the underlying mechanism of this phenomena? To answer these questions a late-onset (aged) EAE mouse model, which is not yet well-established, is required for a comprehensive investigation of late-onset MS mechanism. Thus, we firstly have established a late-onset EAE model using aged C57BL/6 mice to facilitate this project.

<u>We hypothesized that 1</u>) Although Treg cells are protective for MS/EAE, accumulated pTreg cells in the aged individuals impairs IFN- $\gamma$  involved CNS-tissue specific Treg cell trafficking via the CP into the MS/EAE inflamed CNS, which disturbs Treg distributions inside the CNS to alleviate the disease; 2) Inflammatory cytokine-rich microenvironment in the aged individuals impairs CNS-Treg suppressive function via enhancing Treg plasticity.

The hypothesis has been evaluated through three specific aims:

#### Specific Aim 1

To determine late-onset EAE disease course and examine pan- or MOG specific-Treg distributions in the peripheral lymphoid orangs and the inflamed CNS of aged EAE mice.

#### Specific Aim 2

To investigate the mechanism by which the accumulated pan-pTreg cells affect CNS-Treg distribution and contribute to late-onset EAE severity in the aged mice.

#### Specific Aim 3

To determine how the altered immune profiles of aged T cells are associated with neuroinflammation of late-onset EAE in the aged mice.

#### **1.8.2 Project innovation**

This project is <u>innovative</u> in three aspects: (1) **Animal models**: we have established a lateonset EAE mouse model using aged C57BL/6 mice for the studies of late-onset MS. (2) **Focus**: we focused on the impact of aged, accumulated pan-pTreg cells on neuronal autoimmune diseases with a late-onset EAE mouse model, and explored how the accumulated pan-pTreg cells affect disease severity and immune cell profiles inside the inflamed CNS. (3) **Concept**: we considered the aged T cell immunity not only on the immune insufficiency (immunosenescence), but also on the "immune-overloaded" problem, such as accumulated pTreg cells and hyper-self-immune response. Thus, we raise a novel concept that age-related "immune-overloaded" is also a harmful factor to the elderly.

#### **CHAPTER II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### Mice and animal care

C57BL/6 wild-type (WT) mice were used. Aged (18 – 20 months old) mice were ordered from aged rodent colonies of the National Institute on Aging. Control young WT mice were 2 – 3 months old. Foxp3<sup>DTR/GFP</sup> mice (JAX Stock No: 016958) were purchased from the Jackson laboratory and kept to the middle-aged mice in our animal facilities. Foxp3<sup>DTR/GFP</sup> mice express the human diphtheria toxin receptor (DTR) and *EGFP* genes from the *Foxp3* locus without disrupting expression of the endogenous *Foxp3* gene. Via i.p. injection of diphtheria toxin (DT), Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells are depleted transiently. All mice were maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions in the animal facilities at the University of North Texas Health Science Center. All animal experiments were performed in compliance with protocols (IACUC-2018-0014, 2021-0020) approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the University of North Texas Health Science Center, in accordance with guidelines of the National Institutes of Health.

#### Establishment of late-onset EAE mouse model and determination of EAE disease scores

Late-onset EAE was first induced in the common way using per mouse dosages of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide (WatsonBio Sciences) and pertussis toxin (PT) (List Biologicals, Cat#179A) as shown in Fig. 5. Briefly, MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide (peptide sequence: MEVGWYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK) was emulsified in Complete Freund's Adjuvant (Sigma-Aldrich F5881) and given as one-time subcutaneous (s.c.) injection into the upper and lower backs of mice (200µg MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide/mouse). The same day and second day of MOG injection, PT was intraperitoneally (i.p.) injected twice (days 0 and 1) at 200ng PT/mouse/time. Mice were monitored daily for EAE

symptoms and body weight changes. EAE scores were assigned in Table 2. Taking the impact of mouse body weight into consideration, we modified the model using body weight dependent dosages of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide (80µg MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide/10g body weight) for once and PT for twice (100ng PT/10g body weight/time) (Fig. 5B).



**Figure. 5. Late-onset EAE mouse model and disease score observation.** (**A**) Initial test of lateonset EAE induction model using per mouse dosages of MOG peptide and PT, followed by EAE score observation. (**B**) Modified late-onset EAE model using body weight-dependent MOG peptide and PT, followed by EAE score observation

Table 2	2. M	ouse	EAE	scoring
---------	------	------	-----	---------

Score	Clinic observations
0	No obvious changes in motor function compared to unimmunized mice
0.5	tail tip limpness
1.0	tail limpness
1.5	tail limpness and hind leg inhibition
2.0	partial hind leg paralysis
2.5	partial hind leg paralysis with dragging of at least one hind leg
3.0	complete paralysis of hind legs
3.5	complete hind leg paralysis and unable to right the body when placed on the side
4.0	complete hind leg and partial front leg paralysis
4.5	complete hind leg and partial front leg paralysis and mouse is not alert
5.0	spontaneously rolling in the cage or death

https://hookelabs.com/protocols/eaeAI\_C57BL6.html

#### Transient inhibition of Foxp3 expression in pTreg cells and transient depletion of pTreg cells

For transient inhibition of Foxp3 expression in pTreg cells, a workflow is shown in Fig. 17A. Briefly, 12 days after EAE induction in young and aged WT female mice, P300i (C646; Tocris Bioscience, Cat# 4200) was i.p. injected at 8.9 mg/kg body weight per day for 5 consecutive days (5X) in one of the aged mouse groups similar to published protocol. Young and aged mice were i.p. injected with vehicle (PBS) as control groups. The dynamic changes of Treg cell frequencies and Foxp3 expression were monitored at three-time points.

For transient depletion of Foxp3 expressed pTreg cells, 12 days after EAE induction in young and middle-aged Foxp3<sup>DTR</sup> mice, DT (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat#D0564) was i.p. injected at 50µg/kg body weight for one time to one of the aged Foxp3<sup>DTR</sup> mouse groups. Young and another group of aged mice were injected with vehicle (PBS) as control groups.

#### Cell isolations from the CNS and the CP

For mononuclear cell isolation from the brains and the spinal cords, euthanized mice were transcardially perfused with 20ml of PBS. CNS tissues were minced and digested with 2mg/ml collagenase D (Roche, Cat# 11088858001) and 28U/ml DNase I (Invitrogen, Cat# 18068015) in RPMI-1640 medium at 37 °C for 45 min. Tissue was suspended in 30% percoll solution (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat# P1644) and loaded on 70% percoll solution, followed by gradient density centrifugation at 600xG for 30min at room temperature. Mononuclear cells at the interface between 30% and 70% percoll solution were collected. For cell isolation from the brain CP, CP tissues (5 mice per group) were collected from the lateral, third and fourth ventricles of the brain, then digested at 37°C for 40 min in 2mg/ml collagenase D/PBS solution with pipetting.

# Tetramer-based flow cytometric assay of pan- and MOG-specific Treg and Teff cells, cytokine productions by CNS immune cells and IFN-γ producing cells from the CP

Single-cell suspensions from the lymph nodes (LNs), spleen, and the CNS of mice were stained with extracellular fluorochrome-conjugated cluster of differentiation (CD) antibodies (Biolegend, Table 3), along with APC-conjugated MOG<sub>38-49</sub> I-A<sup>b</sup> (MHC-II) tetramer (NIH tetramer core, peptide sequence: GWYRSPFSRVVH) and Brilliant Violet 421-conjugated human CLIP <sub>87-101</sub> I-A<sup>b</sup> tetramer as a control (peptide sequence: PVSKMRMATPLLMQA). Then, cells were fixed and permeabilized using the kit (eBioscience, Cat# 00-5523-00) for intracellular staining of PE-conjugated anti-Foxp3 (eBioscience Cat# 12-5773-82) per the instruction. For intracellular staining of CNS isolated immune cells, cells were stimulated with PMA (5ng/ml), ionomycin (500ng/ml), and Protein Transport Inhibitor (0.7µl/ml, BD Biosciences. Cat# 51-2092KZ) for 5hrs at 37 °C, followed by extracellular marker and intracellular cytokine antibody staining.

Cells isolated from the CP were incubated with PMA (5ng/ml), ionomycin (500ng/ml), and Protein Transport Inhibitor as above for 5hrs, followed by extracellular staining with anti-CD45 and intracellular staining with anti-IFN-γ.

Data were acquired using BD LSR II flow cytometer and analyzed using FlowJo<sup>™</sup> v10 software. Median florescence intensity (MFI) was defined as the "medians" of fluorescence intensities of the conjugated fluorochromes of the antibodies, based on the protocol by International Clinical Cytometry Society:

https://www.cytometry.org/web/q\_view.php?id=152&filter=Analysis%20Techniques

Reagent	fluorochrome	Catalog#	Supplier
Anti-mouse CD4	APC/Cy7	100414	Biolegend
Anti-mouse CD8	FITC	100706	Biolegend
Anti-mouse CD8	BV605	100743	Biolegend
Anti-mouse CD11b	BV711	101242	Biolegend
Anti-mouse CD25	PE/Cy7	102016	Biolegend
Anti-mouse CD45	PerCP/Cy5.5	103132	Biolegend
Anti-mouse IFN-γ	APC	505810	Biolegend
Anti-mouse Foxp3	PE	12-577-82	Thermofisher Scientific
Anti-mouse IL-17A	FITC	506903	Biolegend
Anti-mouse IL-6	PE	504504	Biolegend
Anti-mouse TNF-α	FITC	506304	Biolegend
Anti-mouse IL-10	PE/Cy7	505026	Biolegend

Table 3.	Antibodies	used for	flow cytometr	y staining

# Analysis of transcriptome profile and TCR copy number-based T cell clonal expansion of CNS-infiltrated T cells with a single-cell RNA-seq approach

Mononuclear cells were isolated from the CNS of three young and three aged EAE mice using percoll gradient centrifugation. Cells were stained with anti-CD3-APC (Biolegend, Cat#100236) and anti-CD11b-Brilliant Violet 711 (Biolegend, Cat#101242), then CD3<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>-neg</sup> T cells were sorted out on Sony SH800 Cell Sorter. Purified cells were processed to generate two cDNA libraries, including gene expression (GEX) library and TCR V(D)J library, using the 10x Genomics Chromium Single Cell 5' GEM Library & Gel Bead Kit v2 (10x Genomics, Cat#1000287). The cDNA was amplified using the same kit. cDNA products were purified using Ampure XP beads, and the quality of cDNA was controlled using Agilent Tapestation and Qubit 4 fluorometer. TCR target enrichment was done by Chromium Single Cell Mouse TCR Amplification kit (10x Genomics, Cat #1000254). TCR V(D)J and GEX libraries were constructed by the Library Construction Kit (10x Genomics, Cat #1000190) with Dual Index Kit TT Set A. Sequencing was performed on an Illumina NovaSeq 6000 according to 10x Genomics sequencing protocol recommendations.

Fastq files (Cell Ranger, version 6.0.2, 10xGenomics provided mm10 reference genome), Cloupe file and Vloupe files were generated for the downstream analysis. The t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (t-SNE) plots of T cells were visualized by 10x Genomics Loupe Brower 5.0 and T cells were classified into three groups, including CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg cells. Normalized feature expressions of *Ifng* and *Il17a* were used to determine the gene expression of CNS-infiltrated CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg, CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell populations at the single cell level. The R packages Seurat and clusterProfiler were used for gene expression matrix generation and GO enrichment analysis. 10x Genomics Loupe VDJ Brower 4.0 was used to output the clonotypes of CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff and CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg cells by aggregating the Cloupe file and Vloupe file of each sample. Each clone was determined by the CDR3 regions of paired TCR $\alpha$  and TCR $\beta$ chains. Based on TCR sequence similarity, clones with clonal size greater than 2 were defined as expanded clones, among which the most frequent 10 clones in each sample were defined as the top 10 expanded clones. All unique clones were defined as unexpanded clones.

#### Luxol Fast Blue (LFB) staining for demyelination assay of the spinal cords

Spinal cords were isolated from EAE mice after transcardial perfusion of PBS 28 days after EAE induction. 5µm thick paraffin sections of the spinal cord were stained with 0.1% LFB solution (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat#S3382) per a previous publication (222), with a modification by adding eosin counterstaining (Fig. 6).



**Figure 6. Luxol fast blue (LFB) staining.** LFB staining\* of demyelinated spinal cord with/without Eosin counterstaining.

\* Yoo IH, Kim MJ, Kim J, Sung JJ, Park ST, Ahn SW. The Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Sulforaphane in Mice with Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. J Korean Med Sci 34, e197 (2019).

#### **Statistics**

Statistical tests used to analyze each dataset of experiments are indicated in each figure legend, including the unpaired two-tailed Student's *t*-test for two groups, and one-way ANOVA for multiple groups. Data from EAE scoring were analyzed by Mann-Whitney *U* test to compare between two groups, and Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare multiple groups followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons post hoc test for pairwise comparisons of groups. Body weight changes over time between two groups were analyzed with two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with Geisser-Greenhouse correction. Results were considered statistically significant at values of \* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001.

#### **Chapter III**

### Late-onset EAE in Aged Mice Presents Distinct Disease Characteristics, Which are Associated with Altered Treg Distribution in Peripheral Lymphoid Orangs and the Inflamed CNS

#### **3.1 Scientific Premise and Rationale**

The patients of late-onset MS are diagnosed with MS at the age of 60 or over for the first time (127-130). With the rise of the mean age of the MS population, this disease is gaining increased attention (128). Aging is a significant factor that shapes the MS disease course and correlates with increased disease comorbidities (128), such as cardiovascular comorbidities (132) and greater disability (133). Compared to young patients, elderly patients are more likely to be inflicted with progressive and severe MS including PPMS and SPMS (Table 1) (128, 133). CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, including CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff and CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg cells, are major players and deeply involved in the initiation, development and resolution of MS and its mouse model EAE (75, 76). The balance between pathogenetic Teff cells and protective Treg cells deeply influences the outcome of the disease (223). Therefore, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are a focus for mechanistical investigations of MS/EAE. Of note, T cell immune system undergoes substantial changes with age, which include the following aspects: (1) age-related thymic involution leading to decreased newly generated naïve T cells (140) and increased output of autoreactive T cells (33); (2) enhanced thymic Treg generation (141), along with TCR holes created in the Treg pool (35); (3) accumulated pTreg cells in the peripheral lymphoid organs (142-145); (4) Senescent T cells involved SASP (146); (5) Increased oligo-clonal expansion of TM cells with increased functional exhaustion (147). Therefore, late-onset MS/EAE disease course and severity are assumedly remodeled by T cell

aging. It is enigmatic that aged MS patients with accumulated pTreg cells present more progressive disease courses. We hypothesized that Treg distribution in the inflamed EAE CNS is distinct from the Treg distribution in the periphery of the aged individuals. Therefore, the aim of this part of the study is to establish a late-onset EAE model using aged C57BL/6 mice, then determine the characteristics of late-onset (aged) EAE disease course and the distributions of Treg cells in the peripheral lymphoid organs and inside the inflamed CNS.

**3.2 Aim-1** To determine late-onset EAE disease course and examine pan- or MOG specific-Treg distributions in the peripheral lymphoid orangs and the inflamed CNS of aged EAE mice.

#### **3.3 Results**

#### The course of late-onset EAE disease of aged mice exhibited its distinct characteristics

To establish a late-onset (aged) EAE mouse model, first, we immunized mice with a commonly used protocol (workflow in Fig. 7A), in which the dosage is based on per mouse by injecting 200µg MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide and 200ng pertussis toxin (PT) to each young or aged C57BL/6 wild-type (WT) female mice (Hooke Lab etc.) (224). To our surprise, most aged mice showed a delayed onset (12 days post immunization, DPI) compared to their young counterparts (6-DPI). Eight out of thirteen (~2/3) of the aged mice showed no disease or very mild symptoms, and never reached a debility score >3.0 by 48-DPI (Fig. 7B, blue line). This observation is contradictory to the increased symptom severity and progression in aged MS patients. As the body weight is a critical factor for the dosage administration of drugs, and aged mice (30~40g) have about 50% more to double the body weights of young mice (20~25g) (web links of C57BL/6 mouse age-body weight information: See Fig. 7 legend). We believed that the unexpected EAE progression/severity

in the age mice might not be due to their low susceptibilities to MOG<sub>35-55</sub> antigen, but due to the insufficient MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide administration. Therefore, we adjusted the dosage of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide to 80µg/10g body weight and PT to 100ng/10g body weight (Fig. 8). By comparing young and aged female mice, we determined that aged mice had a distinct EAE onset course. We found aged mice indeed had a later EAE onset (~12-DPI), which was about 6 days later than EAE onset in young mice (as early as at 6-DPI); however, aged mice always developed severer symptoms after onset, compared to their young counterpart (blue lines in Fig. 9A, left panel: EAE scores; right panel: loss of body weight).

Given that human MS disease shows women predominance, we next compared the courses of EAE disease in aged male (Fig. 9B, green lines) and female mice (Fig. 9B, blue lines) and found the two groups had similar EAE onset days, 11~12-DPI. However, the male group had less severity with greater variation of disease symptoms, compared to the female mice. These characteristics are consistent with observations in human MS disease, in which women are the predominant population of MS patients, and also consistent with most published reports using female mice for EAE research (225). Considering homogeneity of variance, we used female mice for the rest of our studies.

Taken together, these data provided novel evidence that pathological severity and disease course of EAE disease in young and old mice are distinctively different. Therefore, this aged EAE mouse model should be used for the studies of aged human MS onset, course, and severity, which is able to provide insights into the mechanism of late-onset MS.

41

#### Different distributions of Treg cells between young and aged mice during EAE disease

Given that Treg cells play a vital protective role in the regulation of MS/EAE severity and progressive disease course (101, 105, 226, 227), we compared the distributions of pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells, along with Teff (or termed conventional T, Tcon) cells, in the periphery and the CNS between young and aged mice during EAE disease (gating strategies are shown in Fig. 10). We found similarities and differences in the distributions between young and old.

In the periphery, either in the lymph node (LN) or spleen, the percentage (%) of pan-pTreg cells in aged EAE mice was increased (Figs. 11A and 11B stripped bars in left and right panels). This is consistent with published reports regarding the accumulation of pTreg cells in aged peripheral lymphoid organs of humans and mice (142). However, % of MOG-specific pTreg cells in aged EAE mice was decreased (Figs. 11A and 11B opened bars in left and right panels). The expression of Foxp3, which is tightly associated with Treg suppressive function, was decreased in MOG-specific pTreg cells of aged EAE mice (Fig. 12). In addition, % of pan-Tcon cells was decreased (Fig. 11B, striped bars in middle panel), but % of MOG-specific Tcon cells was not changed in aged EAE mice (Fig. 11B, open bars in middle panel). The results suggest that although pan-pTreg cells are increased, MOG-specific pTreg cells are reduced. This, coupled with unchanged MOG-specific pTcon cells in the aged periphery, results in an imbalance of MOG-specific immunopathogenic and immunoregulatory T cells during aged EAE onset.

In the CNS, including the brain and spinal cord, % of both pan-Treg and MOG-specific Treg cells were decreased in aged EAE mice (Figs. 13A and 13B left and right panels). The expression of Foxp3 in MOG-specific CNS-Treg cells within the aged, inflamed CNS was decreased (Fig. 14), similar to those in their periphery (Fig. 12), indicating a decreased suppressive function. Particularly, both pan- and MOG-specific CNS-Teff cells were increased in aged EAE

mice (Fig. 13B middle panel), different from those in the periphery (Fig. 11 middle panel), suggesting both pan- and MOG-specific CNS-Treg cells are less robust in controlling CNS-Teff cell-mediated inflammation in the CNS of aged EAE mice. Interestingly, such a discrepancy between the CNS-Treg cells of young and aged mice was not observed at very early EAE onset without severe symptoms (Fig. 15), suggesting that the imbalanced CNS-Treg distribution in the aged mice is associated with EAE disease progress.

Together, the altered distribution of young and aged peripheral and CNS pan- and MOG specific-Treg cells hints the possibility that Treg cells are involved in the severity and courses of young and aged EAE diseases. These findings could help explain one of the reasons why aged mice have a late-onset but more severe EAE pathology. The pTreg accumulation may delay MS/EAE onset at the early stage of the disease. However, once the disease onsets in the aged EAE mice, the reduced pan- and MOG-specific CNS-Treg cells in the CNS results in an insufficient control of the severe and progressive disease course. In other words, it is unlikely that the accumulation of pan-pTreg cells in the periphery of aged mice can help mitigate EAE disease once it onsets in aged individuals.

#### **3.4 Summary**

Herein, we have determined the disease course and severity of late-onset (aged) EAE, and the altered distribution of peripheral and CNS pan-and MOG specific-Treg cells in aged EAE mice. EAE induction using body-weight dependent dosage of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide recapitulates the increased severity of clinical symptom in late-onset MS of elderly patients. Therefore, this provides a promising model for studies of late-onset MS. The distribution of Treg cells is likely associated with the severity of the disease. Although the pan-Treg cells were increased in the peripheral lymphoid tissues of aged EAE mice, which is consistent with the fact that pTreg cells are accumulated in the aged individuals, MOG-specific Treg cells are reduced in the periphery and CNS of aged EAE mice. The loss of MOG-specific Treg cells in the aged mice can potentially reflect an impaired thymocyte agonist selection in the aged involuted thymus. In addition, not only MOG-specific Treg cells but also pan-Treg cells are reduced in the aged EAE CNS, which is also associated with the severity of the disease. This reduction is potentially attributed to an impaired Treg trafficking into the inflamed CNS for the aged EAE mice, and the underlying mechanism of disturbed Treg trafficking into the aged CNS is potentially attributed to accumulated pan-pTreg cells resident in the CNS gateways. These two points are focus of our study in the next chapter.



Figure 7. Establishment of late-onset (aged) mouse EAE model for aged human MS using a standard immunization protocol. (A) Workflow for EAE induction in young and aged C57BL/6 female mice using a standard immunization protocol, followed by daily EAE score evaluation. (B) Characteristics of EAE pathological scores in young (cherry-color line) versus aged (blue line) female EAE mice. The results indicate that with per mouse-based immunization dosage, aged mice showed a delayed onset (12 DPI) compared to the young (6-DPI). 8 out of 13 ( $\sim$ 2/3) of the aged mice showed no disease or very mild symptoms, and never reached a debility score >3.0 by 48-DPI (blue line). This observation is contradictory to the increased symptom severity and progression in aged MS patients.

C57BL/6 mouse age-body weight information (from the Jackson laboratory):

https://www.jax.org/jax-mice-and-services/strain-data-sheet-pages/body-weight-chart-000664#

https://www.jax.org/jax-mice-and-services/strain-data-sheet-pages/body-weight-chart-aged-b6



**Figure 8. Workflow for EAE induction in C57BL/6 mice with body weight-dependent dosage.** Each mouse was immunized with body weight dependent dosage of MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide at 80µg/10g, along with pertussis toxin at 100ng/10g. EAE score and following tests were performed after immunization.



Figure 9. EAE score and body weight changes of young and aged female mice, and aged male and female mice using body weight dependent MOG<sub>35-55</sub> peptide dosage. (A) Characteristics of EAE pathological scores (left panel) and changes in body weights during disease (right panel) in young (cherry-color line) versus aged (blue line) female mice. (B) The variability of EAE pathological scores (left panel) and changes in body weights during disease (right panel) in aged male and female mice. The p-values of EAE scores were calculated by Mann-Whitney *U* test and body weight changes were calculated by two-way repeated-measures ANOVA with Geisser-Greenhouse correction, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be p < 0.05.



**Figure 10. Flow cytometric gating strategies of T cell populations in the periphery and CNS.** (A) Flow cytometric gating strategy of pan- and MOG specific- Treg and Tcon cell populations in the LNs/spleen. (B) Flow cytometric gating strategy of pan- and MOG specific- Treg and Teff cell populations in the brain/spinal cord.



Figure 11. Distributions of pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells in the periphery of young and aged EAE mice. Mice were immunized as Fig. 8 workflow. T cells from the LNs and spleen were analyzed. (A) Flow cytometry gating strategies show pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells in the LNs and spleens. MOG-specific gate was determined by a dot-plot of MHC-II (I-Ab) MOG tetramer versus MHC-II (I-Ab) control tetramer (Details in Fig. 10). (B) Summarized results of the percentages of pan- (striped bars) and MOG-specific (open bars) Treg (left panel) and Tcon (middle panel) cells, and ratios of Treg/Tcon cells (right panel) in the LNs and spleen between young (cherry) and aged (blue) EAE mice. The *p*-values between two groups were analyzed by unpaired Student's *t*-test, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be p < 0.05, "N.S." stands for "not significant", and error bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM.



Figure 12. Foxp3 expressions of peripheral Treg cells in young and aged EAE mice. (A) Flow cytometry gating strategies show Foxp3<sup>+</sup> peaks from CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> gates of the LNs and spleens of young and aged mice. (B) Summarized results of the relative quantitative (RQ) median fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Foxp3 expression in pan- (striped bars) and MOGspecific (open bars) CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> populations in the LNs and spleens cord between young (cherry) and aged (blue) mice. In panels B, the *p*-values between two groups were analyzed by unpaired Student's *t*-test, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be p <0.05, "N.S." stands for "not significant", and error bars indicate mean ± SEM.



Figure 13. Distributions of pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells in the CNS of young and aged EAE mice. Mice were immunized as Fig. 8 workflow. T cells from the brain and spinal cord were analyzed. (A) Flow cytometry gating strategies show pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells in the LNs and spleens. MOG-specific gate was determined by a dot-plot of MHC-II (I-Ab) MOG tetramer versus MHC-II (I-Ab) control tetramer. (B) Summarized results of the percentages of pan- (striped bars) and MOG-specific (open bars) Treg (left panel) and Teff (middle panel) cells, and ratios of Treg/Teff cells (right panel) in the brains and spinal cords between young (cherry) and aged (blue) EAE mice. The *p*-values between two groups were analyzed by unpaired Student's *t*-test, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be p < 0.05, "N.S." stands for "not significant", and error bars indicate mean ± SEM.



Figure 14. Foxp3 expressions of CNS-Treg cells in young and aged EAE mice. (A) Flow cytometry gating strategies show Foxp3<sup>+</sup> peaks (bottom panels) from CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> gates of the brains and spinal cords of young and aged mice. (B) Summarized results of the relative quantitative (RQ) median fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Foxp3 expression in pan- (striped bars) and MOG-specific (open bars) CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> populations in the brains and spinal cords between young (cherry) and aged (blue) mice. In panels B, the p-values between two groups were analyzed by unpaired Student's *t*-test, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be p < 0.05, "N.S." stands for "not significant", and error bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM.



**Figure 15. Distribution of pan- and MOG-specific CNS-Treg in the CNS of young and aged mice at early disease stage (8-DPI). (A)** Representative flow cytometry gating strategies of pan- and MOG-specific CNS-Treg cells of young and aged mice. **(B)** Summarized results of the percentages of pan- and MOG- specific CNS-Treg cells and CNS-Teff cells, and Treg/Teff ratio of young and aged mice. **(C)** Representative flow cytometry gating strategies show Foxp3<sup>+</sup> gates from CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> gates of the CNS of young and aged mice. **(D)** Summarized results of the RQ-MFI of Foxp3 expression in pan-and MOG-specific CNS CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> population in young and aged mice.

#### **Chapter IV**

### Accumulated Peripheral Pan-pTreg cells Impair CNS-tissue Specific Treg Trafficking into the Aged EAE CNS via suppressing IFN-γ-producing leukocytes

#### 4.1 Scientific Premise and Rationale

Reduced Treg cells in the aged EAE CNS, as we determined in the Chapter III, are potentially associated with an impeded trafficking for CNS tissue-specific Treg cell infiltration into the inflamed CNS. These CNS tissue-specific Treg cells include not only MOG-specific CNS-Treg cells, but also pan-CNS-Treg cells that recognize other CNS antigens and make a bystander effect. Because increased BBB permeability could allow the exposure of extensive CNS antigens to polyclonal T cells and various T cells can infiltrate into the inflamed CNS, the pan-Treg cells are required for suppressing inflammation. IFN- $\gamma$  is a factor to increase CP permeability, therefore, this impediment of CNS tissue-specific Treg trafficking in aged EAE mice is potentially attributed to excessive pTreg cells residing at the BBB and CP, which can suppress IFN- $\gamma$ -producing cells. Experiments with mouse model of AD has demonstrated that excessive Treg cells in the periphery (pTreg) was detrimental for disease resolution, because they dampened the trafficking of Treg cells and reparative monocytes into the inflamed CNS (72). The CP is a selective gateway for migration of peripheral immune cells into the CNS, and IFN- $\gamma$  is a potent mediator to CP endothelium activation by upregulating its adhesion molecule expression, which allows immune cells to go through this gateway (73, 228). However, age-related accumulated pTreg cells (142, 144) can inhibit the CP resident leukocytes from IFN- $\gamma$  production, thereby downregulating adhesion molecule expressions for Treg CNS trafficking through the CP gateway (72). Therefore, CP activation could be potentially inhibited by age-related excessive pTreg cells, which impair CNStissue specific Treg trafficking in an IFN-y-dependent manner, resulting in compromised

neuroinflammatory resolution in MS/EAE (Fig. 16). The aim of this chapter is to verify the notion that the accumulated pTreg cells in the aged mice impede the trafficking of CNS-tissue specific Treg cells via the CP into the CNS in the late-onset EAE model. This can be confirmed by a transient pTreg inhibition or depletion to help facilitate the trafficking of Treg into the inflamed CNS, thereby alleviating late-onset EAE symptoms.



Aged individuals

Figure 16. Aged mice have accumulated peripheral Treg cells (pTregs) with severe EAE symptoms. Accumulated pTreg cells inhibit IFN- $\gamma$  mediated adhesion molecule expression at the CP. Therefore, it impairs the trafficking of CNS tissue-specific Treg cells into the inflamed EAE CNS in the age mice. Reduced CNS-Treg cells fail to effectively suppress pathogenic CNS-Teff cells and fail to alleviate neuroinflammation and demyelination, resulting in an increased symptom.

**4.2 Aim-2** To investigate the mechanism by which the accumulated pan-pTreg cells affect CNS-Treg distribution and contribute to late-onset EAE severity in the aged mice.

#### 4.3 Results

#### Transient inhibition or depletion of pan-pTreg cells in the aged mice mitigated EAE severity

Accumulation of pan-pTreg cells in aged individuals (142) was demonstrated to be detrimental during neurodegenerative disease AD, since transient inhibition of Foxp3 expression in the accumulated pTreg cells attenuated AD pathology (72). However, it is unknown whether this accumulation is detrimental or beneficial in late-onset (aged) MS/EAE pathology. Given that aged EAE disease accompanies with accumulated pan-pTreg cells in the periphery (Fig. 11), but reduced CNS-Treg cells in the aged, inflamed CNS (Fig.13), we hypothesized that the cellular trafficking into the CNS may be impeded by the accumulation of pTreg cells outside the CNS. Therefore, transient inhibition of Foxp3 expression in accumulated pTreg cells or transient depletion of accumulated pTreg cells in the aged mice could mitigate late-onset EAE symptoms and pathology. To confirm it, we tested this hypothesis using two mouse models. In the first model, we administrated 5 dosages of P300i to aged mice beginning on 12-DPI (Fig. 17, workflow). P300i can impair Treg suppressive activities by inhibiting Foxp3 expression without affecting Teff cell responses (229), and has been used to transiently and partially suppress pan-pTreg cells residing outside the CNS (72). We evaluated the percentages of pTreg cells (Fig. 17B) and expression level (via median florescence intensity, MFI) of Foxp3 (Fig. 17C) in the peripheral blood at three time points before and after we administrated with the P300i drug (Fig. 17A three red arrowheads indicate the tests). The results show that the pan-pTreg cells were decreased one day after the last P300i injection (17-DPI), but returned to the normal levels 12 days after the last P300i injection

(28-DPI) (Fig. 17B). This confirms that the inhibition was effective (expression of Foxp3 is drastically reduced) and transient (no more 12 days), because pTreg cells were reduced and then restored in Foxp3 expression as the pharmaceutical inhibitory effects decayed over time.

Regarding the severity of EAE disease after transient inhibition of Foxp3 in accumulated pan-pTreg cells in the aged mice, we evaluated EAE symptom (disease score) and pathology (demyelination) and found that the severity was attenuated in the aged P300i-treated group (Fig. 18A black line and Fig. 18B rightmost image). Although the treatment did not completely restore the symptom (disease score) and pathology (demyelination) of aged mice to the same level as the young group, they were significantly improved. The results provide evidence that the accumulation of aged pan-pTreg cells in the periphery does not mitigate, but rather worsen the symptom and pathology of late-onset EAE in aged mice.

To reconfirm the finding that reducing the expression of Foxp3 in accumulated pan-pTreg cells in the aged mice can rescue from EAE symptoms, we tested transient depletion of pTreg cells in the second mouse model by introducing middle-aged (12-15 months old) Foxp3<sup>DTR/EGFP</sup> mice (termed DTR mice) for late-onset EAE model. DTR mice have Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells expressing diphtheria toxin receptor (DTR), thus Treg cells can be transiently depleted by administrating diphtheria toxin (DT) (230). We intraperitoneally (i.p.) injected DT once to the middle-aged-DTR EAE mice with 50µg/kg body weight at 12-DPI. We evaluated the percentages of pTreg cells in the peripheral blood one day before the DT injection (11-DPI), one day after the DT injection (13-DPI), and 16 days after the DT injection (28-DPI). As expected, peripheral blood pTreg cells were completely depleted one day after the DT injection (Fig. 19A, red box, and 19B) and restored to the normal levels 16 days after the DT injection (28-DPI) (Fig. 19A, blue box, and 19B). As a

result, EAE symptoms were alleviated in the middle-aged-DTR mice with transient pTreg depletion (Fig. 19C).

A potential mechanism of the EAE alleviation in aged mice via transient inhibition or depletion of pan-pTreg cells is associated with reopening cellular trafficking into the inflamed CNS

We wanted to elucidate the underlying mechanism by which late-onset EAE alleviation occurred in aged mice via transient inhibition or depletion of pTreg cells. Based on a published report, when accumulated pTreg cells resided at the CP, they suppress IFN- $\gamma$ -secreting cells and potentially result in hampered trafficking of monocytes and antigen-specific Treg cells into the inflamed CNS (231). Transient, rather than permanent, inhibition or depletion of the accumulated pTreg cells mitigated AD (72) due to facilitated trafficking of anti-inflammatory monocytes and Treg cells during CNS inflammation. We believe this is likely the case in late-onset MS/EAE. How do pTreg cells residing at the CP impede immune cell trafficking into the inflamed CNS? Evidence shows that Treg cells suppress IFN- $\gamma$  secreting cells, while IFN- $\gamma$  increases the CNS barrier permeability to facilitate the trafficking. Thus, we investigated the expression of IFN- $\gamma$  in CP-adherent CD45<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic cells (mononuclear cells, etc.) and compared the proportions of CNS-infiltrated Treg and Teff cells with/without the transient inhibition of pTreg cells in the aged mice.

One day after the last treatment with P300i in aged mice (Fig. 17, the  $2^{nd}$  test red arrow), we found that expression of IFN- $\gamma$  was increased in the CP-adherent hematopoietic CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (Fig. 20A black line in the pink box, and right table). We also determined the impact on CNS-

infiltration of Treg cells after transient inhibition of pan-pTreg cells. The results show that both the percentages of both pan-Treg cells (Figs. 20B left panel and C black striped bar in left panel) and MOG-specific Treg cells (Figs. 20B right panel and C black open bar in left panel) were increased in the inflamed CNS of aged mice. The lack of change in Foxp3 expression in CNSinfiltrated Treg cells (Fig. 21) between mice with and without transient inhibition may indicate that the drug P300i does not affect CNS-infiltrated Treg cell function. In addition, increased CNS-Treg cells could either suppress CNS-Teff cells (Fig. 20C middle panel) or increase the Treg to Teff ratio in the inflamed CNS (Fig. 20C right panel). This ratio was observed to be imbalanced during late-onset EAE disease (Fig. 13B right panel). Likewise, this partially restored Treg to Teff balance in the aged EAE CNS was also observed in the middle-aged-DTR EAE mice with the transient pTreg depletion (Fig. 22). In addition, proinflammatory T cells, including both pan- and MOG-specific IFN- $\gamma^+$  Th1 cells and IL-17A<sup>+</sup> Th17 cells, were reduced CNS of DT treated middleaged-DTR mice (Fig. 23A and B) in the. Proinflammatory cytokine produced by CD11b<sup>+</sup> myeloid immune cells were also reduced (Fig. 23C and D) in the CNS of DT treated middle-aged-DTR mice. These changes are associated with alleviated proinflammatory conditions in these middleaged EAE CNS.

These results suggest that the potential underlying mechanism for mitigation of late-onset EAE severity via the transient inhibition or depletion of the accumulated pan-pTreg cells is through increasing INF- $\gamma$  produced by the CD45<sup>+</sup> leukocytes residing at the CP, thereby, facilitating the trafficking of anti-inflammatory immune cells into the aged, inflamed CNS. This mechanism results in reduced CNS inflammation. These anti-inflammatory immune cells may include not only pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells in this study, but also other anti-inflammatory immune cells,
such as monocyte-derived anti-inflammatory cells (231). This constitutes a similar mechanism as mitigating AD pathology with this strategy (72).

### 4.4 Summary

Herein, we demonstrated that the reduction of pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells in the aged EAE inflamed CNS is attributed to age-related accumulation of pTreg cells, which reside in the CNS barrier. We provided counterevidence by inhibiting pTreg cells using P300i in the aged EAE mice, and depleting pTreg cells with DT in middle-aged Foxp3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice. Both models reached the same effect, which is transient pTreg inhibition or transient pTreg depletion (Fig 17B and C). As a result of transient pTreg inhibition or depletion, EAE symptom and spinal cord demyelination in the aged EAE mice were significantly alleviated (Figs. 18 and 19). We elucidated how the transient pTreg reduction in function affected CNS-Treg trafficking via the brain CP, which is to partially reverse dampened IFN- $\gamma$  expression by CP resident CD45<sup>+</sup> leukocytes (Fig 20A). As the increased IFN- $\gamma$  support the activation of CP endothelium for immune cell trafficking, pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells were elevated in the inflamed CNS of aged EAE mice (Fig 20B and C) and middle-aged Foxp3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice (Fig 22 A and B). As a result, the neuroinflammation was alleviated (Fig. 23).



**Figure 17. Transient pTreg inhibition using P300i in aged EAE mice. (A)** Workflow of EAE induction, transient inhibition of pTreg cells, blood collection time-points (red arrowheads) for pTreg cell measurements, and demyelination assay. **(B)** Effects of transient inhibition of pTreg cells on the percentage of pTreg cells in aged EAE mice. Higher pTreg percentage in aged mice than in young mice before the first injection of P300i or vehicle (11-DPI), significantly reduced pTreg percentage after the last injection of P300i (17-DPI, black triangles/line), and restored pTreg percentage in the aged EAE mice 12 days after the last P300i treatment (28-DPI) to the control aged EAE mice (blue dots/line). **(C)** Effects of transient inhibition of pTreg cells on the Foxp3 expression of pTreg cells in aged EAE mice. Significantly reduced Foxp3 expression (MFI) in pTreg cells one day after the last injection of P300i (17-DPI, black triangles/line) in the aged EAE mice, and restored Foxp3 expression of pTreg in the aged EAE mice 12 days after the last P300i treatment (28-DPI) to the control aged EAE mice, and restored Foxp3 expression of pTreg in the aged EAE mice 12 days after the last P300i treatment (28-DPI) to the control aged EAE mice, and restored Foxp3 expression of pTreg in the aged EAE mice 12 days after the last P300i treatment (28-DPI) to the control aged EAE mice (blue dots/line). All data are expressed as mean ± SEM and were analyzed by One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple post-hoc test. \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01 and \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001, young +vehicle v.s. aged +vehicle; ## p < 0.01 and #### p < 0.0001, aged + vehicle v.s. aged +P300i.



**Figure 18.** Alleviated EAE severity after transient pTreg inhibition in aged EAE mice. (A) Alleviation of the symptoms in late-onset EAE of 5x P300i-treated aged group (black triangles/line) compared to vehicle-treated control aged group (blue dots/line). (B) Illustration of a mouse brain and spinal cord indicating the thoracic segment of the spinal cord for LFBeosin staining (rightmost illustration). Three representative spinal cord section images of LFBeosin staining, showing alleviation of demyelination in the spinal cords of aged EAE mice treated with 5x P300i (right image), compared to their counterparts, the vehicle-treated agematched control mice (middle image). The dotted outlines indicate areas of large foci of demyelination, and blue arrow heads show small foci of demyelination. This experiment was repeated three times in three mice of each group with essentially identical results.



Figure 19. Time-course changes in peripheral blood pTreg cells of middle-aged FoxP3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice with transient pTreg depletion. (A) Flow cytometry gating strategies show the frequencies of peripheral blood Treg cells in the three groups of mice 11-DPI (one day before DT treatment), 13-DPI (one day after DT treatment), and 28-DPI (16 days after DT treatment). Red box shows depletion and blue box shows recovery of pTreg cells. (B) Summarized results of time-course changes of pTreg frequencies in the peripheral blood of three groups of FoxP3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice. All data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM and were analyzed by One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple post-hoc test. \*\*\* p < 0.001and \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001, young +vehicle v.s. middle-aged +vehicle; #### p < 0.0001, middleaged + vehicle v.s. middle-aged + DT. (C) Alleviation of the symptoms in late-onset EAE of DT-treated middle-aged FoxP3  $^{DTR}$  EAE mice. The "n" = animal numbers.



Figure 20. Alleviation of EAE in aged mice by transient inhibition of the accumulated pan-pTreg cells was potentially due to restored immune cell trafficking. The workflow is shown in Fig. 17 A. (A) Expression of IFN- $\gamma$  in CP-residing CD45<sup>+</sup> cells were analyzed one day after the last P300i treatment (Fig. 17A, the second test red arrow). A representative histogram shows IFN- $\gamma^+$  CD45<sup>+</sup> cells residing at the CP isolated from the brains of young and aged EAE mice treated with P300i and vehicle, respectively. Percentages of IFN- $\gamma^+$  cells in CD45<sup>+</sup> cells and MFI of IFN- $\gamma$  expression are listed in the table (right). (B) Flow cytometry gating strategies of pan-Treg and MOG-specific Treg cells in the CNS of young and aged EAE mice with P300i- or vehicle-treatment. (C) Summarized results of the percentages of pan-(striped bars) and MOG-specific (opened bars) CNS-Treg (left panel) and CNS-Teff (middle panel) cells, and ratios of Treg/Teff cells (right panel) in the CNS (the brain and spinal cord) of young (cherry) and aged EAE mice, treated with vehicle (blue) or P300i (black).



Figure 21. Foxp3 expression in CNS-Treg cells of aged EAE mice with transient pTreg inhibition. (A) Flow cytometry gating strategies show representative Foxp3<sup>+</sup> gates (bottom panels) from CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> gates of the CNS of the three groups of EAE mice. (B) Summarized results of the RQ-MFI of Foxp3 expression in pan- (striped bars) and MOG-specific (open bars) CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> population in the CNS among young (cherry) and aged EAE mice treated with vehicle (blue) or P300i (black). In panel B, each symbol represents an individual animal sample. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM. The p-values between three groups were analyzed by one-way ANOVA with a Dunnett's multiple post-hoc test, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be p < 0.05, "NS." stands for "not significant".



Figure 22. Transient depletion of the accumulated pTreg cells improved Treg CNS trafficking in middle-aged FoxP3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice. (A) Flow cytometry gating strategies of pan-Treg and MOG-specific Treg cells in the CNS of young and middle-aged EAE mice with DT- or vehicle-treatment. (B) Summarized results of the percentages of pan- (striped bars) and MOG-specific (opened bars) CNS-Treg (left panel) and CNS-Teff (middle panel) cells, and ratios of Treg/Teff cells (right panel) in the CNS of young (cherry) and middle-aged EAE mice treated with vehicle (blue) and DT (black), respectively. (C) Flow cytometry gating strategies show representative Foxp3<sup>+</sup> gates from CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> gates of the CNS of the three groups of EAE mice. (D) Summarized results of the RQ-MFI of Foxp3 expression in pan- (striped bars) and MOG-specific (open bars) CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> population in the CNS of young (cherry) and middle-aged EAE mice treated with vehicle (blue) or DT (black). All data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM and are analyzed by One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple post-hoc test, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be p < 0.05, "N.S." stands for "not significant".



Figure 23. Inflammatory cytokine productions by CNS T cells and myeloid cells after transient depletion of pTreg cells in middle-aged Foxp3<sup>DTR</sup> EAE mice. (A) Flow cytometric gating strategies of INF- $\gamma^+$  and IL-17A<sup>+</sup> pan-CD4 T cells and MOG-specific CD4 T cells in EAE CNS of young and middle-aged Foxp3<sup>DTR</sup> mice with or without DT treatment. (B) Summarized results of the percentages of pan- and MOG-specific INF- $\gamma^+$  and IL-17A<sup>+</sup> CNS-CD4 T cells in the EAE CNS of young and middle-aged mice, treated with vehicle or with DT. (C) Flow cytometric gating strategies of IL-6<sup>+</sup>, TNF- $\alpha^+$  and IL-10<sup>+</sup> myeloid immune cells in the EAE CNS of young and middle-aged Foxp3<sup>DTR</sup> mice with or without DT treatment. (D) Summarized results of the percentages of IL-6<sup>+</sup>, TNF- $\alpha^+$  and IL-10<sup>+</sup> myeloid immune cells in the EAE CNS of young and middle-aged mice treated with vehicle or with DT. The results display that transient depletion of accumulated pTreg cells in middle-aged mice results in reduction of proinflammatory cytokines in the inflamed CNS.

#### Chapter V

# Enhanced Treg Plasticity in the Inflammatory Condition Impairs the Suppressive Function on Teff cells in the Aged EAE CNS

### 5.1 Scientific Premise and Rationale

Aside from the unfavorable inhibitory effect due to the increased pTreg population on CP activation, the immune regulatory profile of CNS-infiltrated Treg cells may be altered at the single cell level. This alteration also contributes to the outcome of an inflammatory disease, as reduced Treg suppressive function was found in autoimmune diseases (232). One of the prominent functional alterations of Treg cells is Treg plasticity, which refers to gain of the phenotype of other Teff cells, and reduced suppressive function on Teff cells and other inflammatory cells (201, 202). IFN- $\gamma$ -producing Th1-like Treg cells and IL-17-producing Th17-like Treg cells are two mostly reported populations in autoimmune diseases for understanding the detrimental effect of Treg plasticity. IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-17 are two important pathogenic cytokines involved in for MS pathogenesis (203-205). In addition, Treg plasticity-resulted Th1 or Th17 polarization impairs the suppressive function of Treg cells against Teff cells (205, 215), thereby enhancing the inflammation in autoimmune disease.

One of the important etiologies of Treg plasticity is the inflammatory cytokine-rich environment in autoimmune diseases (198). Therefore, the chronic inflammatory condition existing in the aged individuals provides a favorable condition to promote Treg plasticity. Taking this into account, how the plasticity of Treg cells affects neuroinflammation in the CNS of late-onset EAE will be explored in this chapter.

**5.2** Aim-3 To determine how the altered immune profiles of aged T cells are associated with neuroinflammation of late-onset EAE in the aged mice.

### **5.3 Results**

# CNS-infiltrated Treg cells in late-onset EAE of aged mice exhibited dysfunctional molecular profiles

Treg cells can possess relatively unstable features (233, 234), including down-regulation of Foxp3 expression (200, 206) as confirmed in our late-onset (aged) EAE mouse model (Fig. 12B and 14B), and co-expression of Ifng or Il17a toward Th1-like or Th17-like plastic conversion (203, 235) upon autoimmune stimulation (200, 206). This leads to functional plasticity, resulting in increased pathology and reduced suppressive capacity (200, 235). We believe that this unstable phenotype is likely more prominent in the aged inflammatory microenvironment. To evaluate these function-related molecular profiles, we analyzed the expression of Ifng and Il17a genes in CNSinfiltrated Treg cells of EAE mice at the single-cell level (Fig. 24A, workflow). We compared CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> CNS-Treg cells in the young and aged inflamed CNS (Fig. 24B) during EAE disease and found that expression of *Ifng* and *Il17a* was indeed increased in the CNS-infiltrated aged Treg cells (Fig. 24C). In addition, we noticed that CNS-CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells showed increased *Ifng* and *Il17a* expression levels in the aged CNS with EAE disease (Fig. 24D). These CNS-CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are activated and pathogenic due to their expression of Ifng and Il17a, which potentially lead to autoimmune encephalomyelitis (114, 236). In addition, in the typical EAE pathogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell subsets Th1 and Th17 cells, the expressions of *Ifng* and *Il17a* were increased in the aged, inflamed CNS (Fig. 24E). Gene Ontology (GO) enrichment analysis of CNS-infiltrated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in aged vs. young EAE mice showed that expressions of genes involved in T cell activation and proliferation pathways were up-regulated in aged CNS-Teff cells (Fig. 25A), but expressions of those genes were not up-regulated in aged CNS-Treg cells (Fig. 25B). The results imply that aged Treg cells, which have infiltrated into the CNS after EAE onset, could not have sufficient capacity to suppress enhanced CNS-Teff cell activation in inducing neuronal inflammation.

## Clonal expansion of CNS-infiltrated Teff cells in late-onset EAE in aged mice was increased

To further evaluate whether CNS-infiltrated aged Treg cells have reduced suppressive capacity against CNS-Teff cells, an assessment of CNS-Teff cell clonal expansion in the EAE CNS can shed certain light. We therefore analyzed clonal expansion in the CNS-infiltrated Teff cell pool along with the Treg cell pool based on TCR sequence similarity via TCR $\alpha\beta$  immune profile analysis with the ingle-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-Seq) approach (Fig. 26). The suppressive capacity of CNS-Treg cells can be reflected by their effect on suppression of clonal expansion of CNS-Teff cells, because reduced suppressive capacity of CNS-Treg cells will result in increased clonal expansion of CNS-Teff cells in the same compartment. The results showed that aged CNS-Teff cells had greater clonal expansion, compared to their young counterpart (Fig. 26A top pies and Fig. 27 left two columns), and the expanded CNS-Teff clones (both total expanded clones and top 10 expanded clones) occupied a higher proportion of the CNS-Teff pool (Fig. 26B left panels) in the aged, inflamed CNS. However, although Treg cells could proliferate in vivo (237), aged CNS-Treg clones showed a similar expansion as in their young counterpart (Fig. 26A bottom pies, 26B right panels, and Fig. 27 right two columns). Together, activation of aged CNS-Teff cells is increased in the aged, inflamed CNS during EAE disease, which is potentially due to insufficient suppression by CNS-Treg cells in the same compartment. The results also indicate that

the expansion capacity of CNS-infiltrated Treg cells in aged EAE mice is not reduced compared to their young counterparts.

### 5.4 Summary

Herein, we determined a mechanism of increased pathology of late-onset EAE, which is associated with the increased Treg plasticity in the aged, inflamed EAE CNS. Our results from scRNA-seq analysis of CNS-CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells of young and aged EAE mice revealed the molecular profiles of CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Fig. 24A and B). Gene expressions of *Ifng* and *Il17a* were increased in CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in the CNS of aged EAE mice (Fig. 24C), indicating the increased Treg plasticity and decreased suppressive function. As a result of impaired Treg suppression, gene expressions of *Ifng* and *Il17a* in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff cells were also upregulated (Fig 24D and E), which suggests enhanced neuroinflammation in the aged EAE mice. This impaired Treg suppression was further supported by (1) GO analysis, which revealed the enriched expression in the T cell activation and proliferation in the aged CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff cells (Fig 25A), and (2) clonal expansion assay which displayed increased clonal expansion of CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff cells (Fig. 26) in the CNS of aged EAE CNS. In summary, Treg cells in the inflamed CNS of aged EAE mice have increased plasticity, which leads to reduced suppression on CNS-Teff cell-induced inflammation, thereby, enhancing proinflammatory effects.



**Figure 24. Function-associated molecular profile analysis for CNS-Treg plasticity and pro-inflammatory CNS-CD8**<sup>+</sup> **T cells and CNS-CD4**<sup>+</sup> **Teff cells of EAE mice.** Mice were immunized as in Fig. 8 workflow. (A) Workflow of sc-RNA-seq for CNS infiltrated T cells. T cells in the CNS (the brain and spinal cord) were isolated via gradient centrifugation and sorted for CD3<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>-neg</sup> cells by flow cytometry 30 days after immunization. Then, single cells were captured and emulsified with specific gel beads for reverse transcription and construction of cDNA library for high-throughput sequencing. (B) The pattern of young (left t-SNE plot) and aged (right t-SNE plot) T cells from the CNS of three young and three aged EAE mice. (C-E) Normalized expressions of *Ifng* (left panel) and *Il17a* (right panel) genes in single Th1- and Th17-like Treg (CD4<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup>) cells (C), CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (D) and CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff (CD4<sup>+</sup> FoxP3<sup>-neg</sup>) cells (E) of the young (cherry) and aged (blue) EAE CNS. Data in panels were analyzed by unpaired Student's *t*-test, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be *p* < 0.05. Each symbol represents a single cell.



**Figure 25. GO enrichment analysis of up-regulated and down-regulated gene sets in aged CD4<sup>+</sup> CNS-Teff cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> CNS-Treg cells.** (**A**) GO enrichment analysis of upregulated (left panel) and down-regulated (right panel) gene enriched pathways in aged CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>-neg</sup> CNS-Teff cells with the top 15 significantly upregulated and downregulated genes (inserted boxes in the left and right panels) of aged CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>-neg</sup> CNS-Teff cells. (**B**) Same analysis as in (A) of aged CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup>CNS-Treg cells. The results imply that aged Treg cells, which have infiltrated into the CNS after EAE onset, could have reduced capacity to suppress CNS-Teff cell-induced neuronal inflammation.



Figure 26. Clonal expansion assay in CNS-infiltrated CD4<sup>+</sup> T populations of young and aged EAE mice. Based on TCR $\alpha\beta$  sequence similarity from the sc-RNA-Seq immune profile analysis, CNS-infiltrated Teff and Treg cells were divided into expanded T clones (more than one copy of each TCR sequence) and unexpanded T clones (unique TCR sequences, with clone size = 1). In the expanded T clones, we further divided them into Group-A: top 10 clones (10 most expanded TCR sequences) and Group-B: other expanded clones (all other TCR sequences with  $\geq$  2 copies). (A) Pie charts show expanded clones (Groups-A and -B) and unexpanded clones (Group-C) of CNS-Teff (top two pies) and CNS-Treg (bottom two pies) cells in total CNS-CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from young (left two pies) and aged (right two pies) EAE mice. (B) Summarized results of the frequencies of all expanded clones of CNS-Teff (left panel) and CNS-Treg (right panel) cells in total CNS CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from young (cherry open bars) and aged (blue open bars) EAE mice. Each symbol represents one mouse. Data were analyzed by unpaired Student's *t*-test, and a statistically significant difference was considered to be p < 0.05.



Figure 27. Clonal expansion in CNS-infiltrated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells of three young and three aged EAE mice. Leftmost column: three individual pie charts of young CNS-Teff cell clonal expansion; second left column: three individual pie charts of aged Teff cell clonal expansion; second right column: three individual pie charts of young Treg cell clonal expansion; rightmost column: three individual pie charts of aged Treg cell clonal expansion. The results are for detailed elaboration of Fig. 26.

### **Chapter VI. Discussion, Limitation, and Future Direction**

Typically, human MS disease develops in young (20 – 40 years old) females. However, late-onset MS whose manifestation occurs after the age of 60 years, has been reported in the elderly (127-130). The mean age of the MS population is rising (128), and it was reported that 14% of total MS patients were 65 years and older in 2010 (131). MS presents with at least four clinical sub-types. Two of them, progressive-relapsing MS (PRMS) and remission-relapsing MS (RRMS), have relatively mild symptoms, and are often seen in young patients (80% - 90%). However, the other two, primary progressive MS (PPMS) and secondary progressive MS (SPMS), have severe symptoms, and are often seen in aged (>65 years old) patients (~29% for PPMS and ~26% for SPMS), and young patients only account for 10% PPMS and rarely exhibit SPMS (128). Given that Treg cells are protective cells against autoimmunity (100, 101, 104), which combat IFN- $\gamma$ -producing and IL-17-producing CD4<sup>+</sup> pathogenic cells and pathogenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the MS lesion, the severe symptoms in the aged patients are potentially attributed to Treg cell dysfunction, including altered distribution and increased plasticity.

Ample evidence shows that Treg cells play an ameliorative role in MS/EAE disease onset and severity (101, 226, 227), and transferring Treg cells into MOG-induced EAE mice attenuates disease (106). EAE severity is particularly correlated inversely with the frequency of MOGspecific Treg cells (107). However, accumulation of pTreg cells (107) with enhanced suppressive function (238) in aged individuals is accompanied by severe MS/EAE symptoms in aged humans (128) and mice (Fig. 9). This is not consistent with the role of Treg cells in suppressing uncontrolled immune reactions. Thus, this inconsistency encouraged us to investigate the underlying mechanism.

CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells primarily act to suppress Teff cell-mediated aberrant antigenspecific and non-specific immune responses. However, accumulation of pTreg cells in the elderly is disadvantageous for anti-infection and anti-cancer immunity, and for certain neuroinflammation. This disadvantage indicates that excess Treg cells may be harmful. As mentioned earlier, in protection and recovery from CNS inflammatory disorder AD, one of the age-related neuroinflammatory diseases, excessive pTreg cells were shown to play a detrimental role (72). This is probably due to too many Treg cells accumulated outside the CNS (in the periphery), rather than inside the CNS (239), in addition to the existence of distinct Treg subsets (240, 241). Herein, using an aged EAE mouse model that resembles aged human MS disease, we found that aged EAE mice had an altered distribution of pan- and MOG-specific Treg cells inside and outside the CNS, compared to their young counterparts. Specifically, aged mice exhibited a high proportion of panpTreg and a low proportion of MOG-specific pTreg cells in their periphery, but low proportions of both pan- and MOG-specific CNS-Treg cells in the inflamed CNS (Fig. 13). Accumulation of pTreg cells outside the CNS and residing at the CNS-periphery boundaries, the BBB and CP, could impede immune cells, including Treg cells, trafficking into the inflamed CNS for recovery (72, 231).

As mentioned earlier, AD pathology could be alleviated by transient inhibition of Foxp3 expression in the accumulated peripheral CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup>Treg cells in an aged AD mouse model (72). In our study, we transiently inhibited or depleted accumulated pTreg cells in aged EAE mice, which significantly ameliorated EAE disease and corrected Treg distribution (Figs. 18-21). The mechanism is likely that the accumulated pTreg cells suppress INF- $\gamma$  producing cells residing at the CNS barrier CP, which directly block the gateway (72) for homeostatic leukocyte trafficking into the CNS (73, 228). IFN- $\gamma$  is required for activation of the brain's CP for CNS immune

surveillance and repair (73, 231). For example, it is reported that immunization with a myelinderived antigen activated the CP via inducing the CP to express IFN- $\gamma$  and attract Th1 cells, thereby enhancing recruitment of immunoregulatory cells into the CNS to achieve attenuation of neuroinflammatory progression in a mouse model (242).

Treg cells are unstable and plastic, and this is especially observable during inflammatory autoimmune stimulation (200, 206). The unstable characteristics are exhibited by loss of Foxp3 expression in a proportion of mature Treg cells (243), and the plastic characteristics are exhibited by the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN- $\gamma$  or IL-17, along with Foxp3 expression. These altered Treg cells acquire an effector-like phenotype, and they can induce, rather than suppress, autoimmunity. These cells are commonly found in autoimmune-prone NOD mice and diabetic patients (203, 244), as well as in MS patients and EAE mice (245, 246). We found that in the aged, inflamed CNS, Treg cells exhibited higher plasticity than their young counterparts, observed as co-expression of INF- $\gamma$  and/or IL-17 with Foxp3 (Fig. 24), which potentially results in reduced suppressive function and increased pathology (200, 235). The increased Treg plasticity in the aged EAE mice could be due to the synergistical effect of EAE induced acute inflammation and the pre-existing inflammaging, the latter of which is not possessed by young mice. Further, we observed differences in CNS-Teff clonal expansion, which reflects the reduced suppressive function of CNS-infiltrated Treg cells in aged EAE mice (Fig. 26, top pies). The clonal expansion of CNS-infiltrated Treg cells was almost the same between young and aged EAE mice, whereas, the clonal expansion of CNS-Teff cells was significantly increased in the aged EAE mice. The lower Treg clonal expansion reflects their biological feature. Our data also showed that expanded CNS-infiltrated Treg clones (clone size  $\geq 2$ ) is only accounting for 3~4% of total CNS-infiltrated Treg clones in both young and aged mice (Fig. 26A, bottom pie charts). The higher clonal

expansion of CNS-Teff cells in aged, inflamed CNS could explain the lower suppressive function of the CNS-Treg cells, since this reflects a disruption of the normal Treg/Teff balance. In addition to self-antigen-driven inflammatory autoimmune stimulation (200, 206), the age-related, chronic, systemic inflammation (inflammaging) may play a synergistic role to enhance CNS-Treg plasticity in aged EAE mice compared to young counterparts. However, this synergistic role is our future work, and it needs further investigation. One technical limitation is that we were not able to identify the clonal expansion of MOG-specific T cells among the whole T cell population using sc-RNA-Seq approach, since unique sequence-based MHC-II MOG-Dextramer reagent is under development.

Although CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, both CD4<sup>+</sup> Teff and CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells, are the traditional primary actors in MS/EAE pathogenesis and immunoregulation, emerging evidence shows that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells also contribute to immunopathology (by cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells) and immunoregulation (by CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg cells), and can either exacerbate or mitigate brain inflammation during CNS autoimmunity (111, 112). Regarding MS/EAE immunopathogenesis, myelin-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells exacerbate brain, though not spinal cord, inflammation via a Fas ligand-dependent mechanism to promote lesion formation in the brain (116). In addition, IL-17A secreting CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (termed Tc17 cells) in the CNS support Th17 cell-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis (114, 236). In aged neurogenic niches that comprise neural stem cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are increased and inhibit the proliferation of neural stem cells (113). These pathogenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are detrimental for the recovery of demyelinating lesions in aged MS/EAE disease. Our results show that Tc17<sup>+</sup> cells expressed increased levels of proinflammatory cytokine genes in the aged EAE CNS (Fig. 24), which was consistent with severe symptoms and pathology in aged EAE mice. However, regarding the immunoregulation of CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in MS/EAE, although the concept

of CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg cells is not unanimously accepted, the function of CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in MS/EAE has received attention (115, 120, 121). The main focus of studies of CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in MS/EAE is based one young patients or young animals, and there are many unanswered questions regarding how these cells contribute to CNS autoimmune inflammation in the elderly. Therefore, studies in the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> Treg cells in the elderly during late-onset MS/EAE disease are our future work and need to be investigated.

In summary, the results of our project provide insights into how accumulated aged polyclonal CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> pTreg cells in an inflammatory condition do not ameliorate, but are detrimental for CNS repair processes in autoimmune neuronal inflammation of aged MS, which is demonstrated in the animal model EAE.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Turvey, S. E., and D. H. Broide. 2010. Innate immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 125: S24-32.
- 2. Bonilla, F. A., and H. C. Oettgen. 2010. Adaptive immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 125: S33-40.
- 3. Sprent, J. 1997. Immunological memory. *Curr Opin Immunol* 9: 371-379.
- 4. Marshall, J. S., R. Warrington, W. Watson, and H. L. Kim. 2018. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. *Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol* 14: 49.
- 5. Ito, T., J. M. Connett, S. L. Kunkel, and A. Matsukawa. 2013. The linkage of innate and adaptive immune response during granulomatous development. *Front Immunol* 4: 10.
- 6. Nemazee, D. 2017. Mechanisms of central tolerance for B cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 17: 281-294.
- 7. Nurieva, R. I., X. Liu, and C. Dong. 2011. Molecular mechanisms of T-cell tolerance. *Immunol Rev* 241: 133-144.
- 8. Kurd, N., and E. A. Robey. 2016. T-cell selection in the thymus: a spatial and temporal perspective. *Immunol Rev* 271: 114-126.
- 9. Gellert, M. 2002. V(D)J recombination: RAG proteins, repair factors, and regulation. *Annu Rev Biochem* 71: 101-132.
- 10. Fugmann, S. D., A. I. Lee, P. E. Shockett, I. J. Villey, and D. G. Schatz. 2000. The RAG proteins and V(D)J recombination: complexes, ends, and transposition. *Annu Rev Immunol* 18: 495-527.
- 11. McManus, R. M., K. H. Mills, and M. A. Lynch. 2015. T Cells-Protective or Pathogenic in Alzheimer's Disease? *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* 10: 547-560.
- Kieback, E., E. Hilgenberg, U. Stervbo, V. Lampropoulou, P. Shen, M. Bunse, Y. Jaimes, P. Boudinot, A. Radbruch, U. Klemm, A. A. Kuhl, R. Liblau, N. Hoevelmeyer, S. M. Anderton, W. Uckert, and S. Fillatreau. 2016. Thymus-Derived Regulatory T Cells Are Positively Selected on Natural Self-Antigen through Cognate Interactions of High Functional Avidity. *Immunity* 44: 1114-1126.
- 13. Stinissen, P., R. Medaer, and J. Raus. 1998. Myelin reactive T cells in the autoimmune pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* 4: 203-211.
- 14. Davis, M. M., and P. J. Bjorkman. 1988. T-cell antigen receptor genes and T-cell recognition. *Nature* 334: 395-402.
- 15. Rosati, E., C. M. Dowds, E. Liaskou, E. K. K. Henriksen, T. H. Karlsen, and A. Franke. 2017. Overview of methodologies for T-cell receptor repertoire analysis. *BMC Biotechnol* 17: 61.
- 16. Goronzy, J. J., Q. Qi, R. A. Olshen, and C. M. Weyand. 2015. High-throughput sequencing insights into T-cell receptor repertoire diversity in aging. *Genome Med* 7: 117.
- Casrouge, A., E. Beaudoing, S. Dalle, C. Pannetier, J. Kanellopoulos, and P. Kourilsky. 2000. Size estimate of the alpha beta TCR repertoire of naive mouse splenocytes. *J Immunol* 164: 5782-5787.
- 18. Famili, F., A. S. Wiekmeijer, and F. J. Staal. 2017. The development of T cells from stem cells in mice and humans. *Future Sci OA* 3: FSO186.
- 19. Klein, L., B. Kyewski, P. M. Allen, and K. A. Hogquist. 2014. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nat Rev Immunol* 14: 377-391.

- 20. Mandl, J. N., J. P. Monteiro, N. Vrisekoop, and R. N. Germain. 2013. T cell-positive selection uses self-ligand binding strength to optimize repertoire recognition of foreign antigens. *Immunity* 38: 263-274.
- 21. Stritesky, G. L., S. C. Jameson, and K. A. Hogquist. 2012. Selection of self-reactive T cells in the thymus. *Annu Rev Immunol* 30: 95-114.
- 22. Colombo, M. P., and S. Piconese. 2007. Regulatory-T-cell inhibition versus depletion: the right choice in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 7: 880-887.
- 23. Takeuchi, Y., and H. Nishikawa. 2016. Roles of regulatory T cells in cancer immunity. *Int Immunol* 28: 401-409.
- 24. Klein, L., E. A. Robey, and C. S. Hsieh. 2019. Central CD4(+) T cell tolerance: deletion versus regulatory T cell differentiation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 19: 7-18.
- 25. Pohar, J., Q. Simon, and S. Fillatreau. 2018. Antigen-Specificity in the Thymic Development and Peripheral Activity of CD4(+)FOXP3(+) T Regulatory Cells. *Front Immunol* 9: 1701.
- 26. Wirnsberger, G., M. Hinterberger, and L. Klein. 2011. Regulatory T-cell differentiation versus clonal deletion of autoreactive thymocytes. *Immunol Cell Biol* 89: 45-53.
- 27. Xing, Y., and K. A. Hogquist. 2012. T-cell tolerance: central and peripheral. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 4.
- 28. Perniola, R. 2018. Twenty Years of AIRE. *Front Immunol* 9: 98.
- 29. Takaba, H., Y. Morishita, Y. Tomofuji, L. Danks, T. Nitta, N. Komatsu, T. Kodama, and H. Takayanagi. 2015. Fezf2 Orchestrates a Thymic Program of Self-Antigen Expression for Immune Tolerance. *Cell* 163: 975-987.
- 30. Chan, A. Y., and M. S. Anderson. 2015. Central tolerance to self revealed by the autoimmune regulator. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1356: 80-89.
- 31. Conteduca, G., F. Indiveri, G. Filaci, and S. Negrini. 2018. Beyond APECED: An update on the role of the autoimmune regulator gene (AIRE) in physiology and disease. *Autoimmun Rev* 17: 325-330.
- 32. Harrington, C. J., A. Paez, T. Hunkapiller, V. Mannikko, T. Brabb, M. Ahearn, C. Beeson, and J. Goverman. 1998. Differential tolerance is induced in T cells recognizing distinct epitopes of myelin basic protein. *Immunity* 8: 571-580.
- 33. Coder, B. D., H. Wang, L. Ruan, and D. M. Su. 2015. Thymic involution perturbs negative selection leading to autoreactive T cells that induce chronic inflammation. *J Immunol* 194: 5825-5837.
- 34. Liu, Y., I. Teige, B. Birnir, and S. Issazadeh-Navikas. 2006. Neuron-mediated generation of regulatory T cells from encephalitogenic T cells suppresses EAE. *Nat Med* 12: 518-525.
- 35. Thomas, R., J. Oh, W. Wang, and D. M. Su. 2021. Thymic atrophy creates holes in Tregmediated immuno-regulation via impairment of an antigen-specific clone. *Immunology* 163: 478-492.
- 36. Browne, P., D. Chandraratna, C. Angood, H. Tremlett, C. Baker, B. V. Taylor, and A. J. Thompson. 2014. Atlas of Multiple Sclerosis 2013: A growing global problem with widespread inequity. *Neurology* 83: 1022-1024.
- 37. McFarland, H. F., and R. Martin. 2007. Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol* 8: 913-919.
- 38. Klineova, S., and F. D. Lublin. 2018. Clinical Course of Multiple Sclerosis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 8.

- 39. Sospedra, M., and R. Martin. 2005. Immunology of multiple sclerosis. *Annu Rev Immunol* 23: 683-747.
- 40. Constantinescu, C. S., N. Farooqi, K. O'Brien, and B. Gran. 2011. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) as a model for multiple sclerosis (MS). *Br J Pharmacol* 164: 1079-1106.
- 41. Sabel, C. E., J. F. Pearson, D. F. Mason, E. Willoughby, D. A. Abernethy, and B. V. Taylor. 2021. The latitude gradient for multiple sclerosis prevalence is established in the early life course. *Brain* 144: 2038-2046.
- 42. Hartmann, M., N. Fenton, and R. Dobson. 2021. Current review and next steps for artificial intelligence in multiple sclerosis risk research. *Comput Biol Med* 132: 104337.
- 43. Compston, A., and A. Coles. 2008. Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* 372: 1502-1517.
- 44. Ascherio, A., M. Rubertone, D. Spiegelman, L. Levin, K. Munger, C. Peck, and E. Lennette. 2005. Notice of retraction: "Multiple sclerosis and Epstein-Barr virus" (JAMA. 2003;289:1533-1536). JAMA 293: 2466.
- 45. Buljevac, D., H. Z. Flach, W. C. Hop, D. Hijdra, J. D. Laman, H. F. Savelkoul, F. G. van Der Meche, P. A. van Doorn, and R. Q. Hintzen. 2002. Prospective study on the relationship between infections and multiple sclerosis exacerbations. *Brain* 125: 952-960.
- 46. Andersen, O., P. E. Lygner, T. Bergstrom, M. Andersson, and A. Vahlne. 1993. Viral infections trigger multiple sclerosis relapses: a prospective seroepidemiological study. *J Neurol* 240: 417-422.
- Lang, H. L., H. Jacobsen, S. Ikemizu, C. Andersson, K. Harlos, L. Madsen, P. Hjorth, L. Sondergaard, A. Svejgaard, K. Wucherpfennig, D. I. Stuart, J. I. Bell, E. Y. Jones, and L. Fugger. 2002. A functional and structural basis for TCR cross-reactivity in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Immunol* 3: 940-943.
- 48. Hedstrom, A. K., T. Olsson, I. Kockum, J. Hillert, and L. Alfredsson. 2020. Low sun exposure increases multiple sclerosis risk both directly and indirectly. *J Neurol* 267: 1045-1052.
- 49. Pierrot-Deseilligny, C., and J. C. Souberbielle. 2017. Vitamin D and multiple sclerosis: An update. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* 14: 35-45.
- 50. Abbaszadeh, S., M. Tabary, A. Aryannejad, R. Abolhasani, F. Araghi, I. Khaheshi, and A. Azimi. 2021. Air pollution and multiple sclerosis: a comprehensive review. *Neurol Sci* 42: 4063-4072.
- 51. Hernan, M. A., S. S. Jick, G. Logroscino, M. J. Olek, A. Ascherio, and H. Jick. 2005. Cigarette smoking and the progression of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* 128: 1461-1465.
- 52. Marrie, R. A. 2004. Environmental risk factors in multiple sclerosis aetiology. *Lancet Neurol* 3: 709-718.
- 53. Ebers, G. C., A. D. Sadovnick, and N. J. Risch. 1995. A genetic basis for familial aggregation in multiple sclerosis. Canadian Collaborative Study Group. *Nature* 377: 150-151.
- 54. Olerup, O., and J. Hillert. 1991. HLA class II-associated genetic susceptibility in multiple sclerosis: a critical evaluation. *Tissue Antigens* 38: 1-15.
- 55. Schmidt, H., D. Williamson, and A. Ashley-Koch. 2007. HLA-DR15 haplotype and multiple sclerosis: a HuGE review. *Am J Epidemiol* 165: 1097-1109.
- Wang, J., I. Jelcic, L. Muhlenbruch, V. Haunerdinger, N. C. Toussaint, Y. Zhao, C. Cruciani,
  W. Faigle, R. Naghavian, M. Foege, T. M. C. Binder, T. Eiermann, L. Opitz, L. Fuentes-Font,
  R. Reynolds, W. W. Kwok, J. T. Nguyen, J. H. Lee, A. Lutterotti, C. Munz, H. G. Rammensee,

M. Hauri-Hohl, M. Sospedra, S. Stevanovic, and R. Martin. 2020. HLA-DR15 Molecules Jointly Shape an Autoreactive T Cell Repertoire in Multiple Sclerosis. *Cell* 183: 1264-1281 e1220.

- 57. Benedict, R. H. B., M. P. Amato, J. DeLuca, and J. J. G. Geurts. 2020. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: clinical management, MRI, and therapeutic avenues. *Lancet Neurol* 19: 860-871.
- Filippi, M., M. A. Rocca, O. Ciccarelli, N. De Stefano, N. Evangelou, L. Kappos, A. Rovira, J. Sastre-Garriga, M. Tintore, J. L. Frederiksen, C. Gasperini, J. Palace, D. S. Reich, B. Banwell, X. Montalban, F. Barkhof, and M. S. Group. 2016. MRI criteria for the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: MAGNIMS consensus guidelines. *Lancet Neurol* 15: 292-303.
- 59. Bronnum-Hansen, H., N. Koch-Henriksen, and K. Hyllested. 1994. Survival of patients with multiple sclerosis in Denmark: a nationwide, long-term epidemiologic survey. *Neurology* 44: 1901-1907.
- 60. Wallin, M. T., W. F. Page, and J. F. Kurtzke. 2000. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis in US veterans. VIII. Long-term survival after onset of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* 123 (Pt 8): 1677-1687.
- 61. Sumelahti, M. L., P. J. Tienari, J. Wikstrom, T. M. Salminen, and M. Hakama. 2002. Survival of multiple sclerosis in Finland between 1964 and 1993. *Mult Scler* 8: 350-355.
- 62. Lublin, F. D., and S. C. Reingold. 1996. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis. *Neurology* 46: 907-911.
- 63. Ghasemi, N., S. Razavi, and E. Nikzad. 2017. Multiple Sclerosis: Pathogenesis, Symptoms, Diagnoses and Cell-Based Therapy. *Cell J* 19: 1-10.
- 64. Calabresi, P. A. 2004. Diagnosis and management of multiple sclerosis. *Am Fam Physician* 70: 1935-1944.
- 65. Bjelobaba, I., V. Begovic-Kupresanin, S. Pekovic, and I. Lavrnja. 2018. Animal models of multiple sclerosis: Focus on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neurosci Res* 96: 1021-1042.
- 66. Robinson, A. P., C. T. Harp, A. Noronha, and S. D. Miller. 2014. The experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model of MS: utility for understanding disease pathophysiology and treatment. *Handb Clin Neurol* 122: 173-189.
- 67. Furtado, G. C., M. C. Marcondes, J. A. Latkowski, J. Tsai, A. Wensky, and J. J. Lafaille. 2008. Swift entry of myelin-specific T lymphocytes into the central nervous system in spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 181: 4648-4655.
- 68. Zhang, H., J. R. Podojil, X. Luo, and S. D. Miller. 2008. Intrinsic and induced regulation of the age-associated onset of spontaneous experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 181: 4638-4647.
- 69. Sonar, S. A., and G. Lal. 2017. Differentiation and Transmigration of CD4 T Cells in Neuroinflammation and Autoimmunity. *Front Immunol* 8: 1695.
- 70. Ransohoff, R. M., P. Kivisakk, and G. Kidd. 2003. Three or more routes for leukocyte migration into the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3: 569-581.
- 71. Kivisakk, P., J. Imitola, S. Rasmussen, W. Elyaman, B. Zhu, R. M. Ransohoff, and S. J. Khoury. 2009. Localizing central nervous system immune surveillance: meningeal antigen-

presenting cells activate T cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Ann Neurol* 65: 457-469.

- 72. Baruch, K., N. Rosenzweig, A. Kertser, A. Deczkowska, A. M. Sharif, A. Spinrad, A. Tsitsou-Kampeli, A. Sarel, L. Cahalon, and M. Schwartz. 2015. Breaking immune tolerance by targeting Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells mitigates Alzheimer's disease pathology. *Nat Commun* 6: 7967.
- 73. Kunis, G., K. Baruch, N. Rosenzweig, A. Kertser, O. Miller, T. Berkutzki, and M. Schwartz. 2013. IFN-gamma-dependent activation of the brain's choroid plexus for CNS immune surveillance and repair. *Brain* 136: 3427-3440.
- 74. Brown, D. A., and P. E. Sawchenko. 2007. Time course and distribution of inflammatory and neurodegenerative events suggest structural bases for the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Comp Neurol* 502: 236-260.
- 75. Ruterbusch, M., K. B. Pruner, L. Shehata, and M. Pepper. 2020. In Vivo CD4(+) T Cell Differentiation and Function: Revisiting the Th1/Th2 Paradigm. *Annu Rev Immunol* 38: 705-725.
- 76. Trinchieri, G., S. Pflanz, and R. A. Kastelein. 2003. The IL-12 family of heterodimeric cytokines: new players in the regulation of T cell responses. *Immunity* 19: 641-644.
- 77. Kaskow, B. J., and C. Baecher-Allan. 2018. Effector T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 8.
- 78. Gutcher, I., and B. Becher. 2007. APC-derived cytokines and T cell polarization in autoimmune inflammation. *J Clin Invest* 117: 1119-1127.
- 79. Panitch, H. S., R. L. Hirsch, A. S. Haley, and K. P. Johnson. 1987. Exacerbations of multiple sclerosis in patients treated with gamma interferon. *Lancet* 1: 893-895.
- 80. Baron, J. L., J. A. Madri, N. H. Ruddle, G. Hashim, and C. A. Janeway, Jr. 1993. Surface expression of alpha 4 integrin by CD4 T cells is required for their entry into brain parenchyma. *J Exp Med* 177: 57-68.
- 81. Domingues, H. S., M. Mues, H. Lassmann, H. Wekerle, and G. Krishnamoorthy. 2010. Functional and pathogenic differences of Th1 and Th17 cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *PLoS One* 5: e15531.
- 82. Gran, B., G. X. Zhang, S. Yu, J. Li, X. H. Chen, E. S. Ventura, M. Kamoun, and A. Rostami. 2002. IL-12p35-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: evidence for redundancy in the IL-12 system in the induction of central nervous system autoimmune demyelination. *J Immunol* 169: 7104-7110.
- 83. Zhang, G. X., B. Gran, S. Yu, J. Li, I. Siglienti, X. Chen, M. Kamoun, and A. Rostami. 2003. Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in IL-12 receptor-beta 2deficient mice: IL-12 responsiveness is not required in the pathogenesis of inflammatory demyelination in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* 170: 2153-2160.
- 84. Ferber, I. A., S. Brocke, C. Taylor-Edwards, W. Ridgway, C. Dinisco, L. Steinman, D. Dalton, and C. G. Fathman. 1996. Mice with a disrupted IFN-gamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *J Immunol* 156: 5-7.
- Cua, D. J., J. Sherlock, Y. Chen, C. A. Murphy, B. Joyce, B. Seymour, L. Lucian, W. To, S. Kwan, T. Churakova, S. Zurawski, M. Wiekowski, S. A. Lira, D. Gorman, R. A. Kastelein, and J. D. Sedgwick. 2003. Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. *Nature* 421: 744-748.

- McGeachy, M. J., Y. Chen, C. M. Tato, A. Laurence, B. Joyce-Shaikh, W. M. Blumenschein, T. K. McClanahan, J. J. O'Shea, and D. J. Cua. 2009. The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 10: 314-324.
- 87. Rothhammer, V., S. Heink, F. Petermann, R. Srivastava, M. C. Claussen, B. Hemmer, and T. Korn. 2011. Th17 lymphocytes traffic to the central nervous system independently of alpha4 integrin expression during EAE. *J Exp Med* 208: 2465-2476.
- 88. Duhen, R., S. Glatigny, C. A. Arbelaez, T. C. Blair, M. Oukka, and E. Bettelli. 2013. Cutting edge: the pathogenicity of IFN-gamma-producing Th17 cells is independent of T-bet. *J Immunol* 190: 4478-4482.
- 89. Goldmann, T., and M. Prinz. 2013. Role of microglia in CNS autoimmunity. *Clin Dev Immunol* 2013: 208093.
- 90. Murphy, A. C., S. J. Lalor, M. A. Lynch, and K. H. Mills. 2010. Infiltration of Th1 and Th17 cells and activation of microglia in the CNS during the course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Behav Immun* 24: 641-651.
- 91. Aharoni, R., R. Eilam, and R. Arnon. 2021. Astrocytes in Multiple Sclerosis-Essential Constituents with Diverse Multifaceted Functions. *Int J Mol Sci* 22.
- 92. Prajeeth, C. K., J. Kronisch, R. Khorooshi, B. Knier, H. Toft-Hansen, V. Gudi, S. Floess, J. Huehn, T. Owens, T. Korn, and M. Stangel. 2017. Effectors of Th1 and Th17 cells act on astrocytes and augment their neuroinflammatory properties. *J Neuroinflammation* 14: 204.
- Wang, J., J. Wang, J. Wang, B. Yang, Q. Weng, and Q. He. 2019. Targeting Microglia and Macrophages: A Potential Treatment Strategy for Multiple Sclerosis. *Front Pharmacol* 10: 286.
- 94. Jie, Z., C. J. Ko, H. Wang, X. Xie, Y. Li, M. Gu, L. Zhu, J. Y. Yang, T. Gao, W. Ru, S. J. Tang, X. Cheng, and S. C. Sun. 2021. Microglia promote autoimmune inflammation via the noncanonical NF-kappaB pathway. *Sci Adv* 7: eabh0609.
- 95. Brambilla, R. 2019. The contribution of astrocytes to the neuroinflammatory response in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Acta Neuropathol* 137: 757-783.
- Schirmer, L., D. Velmeshev, S. Holmqvist, M. Kaufmann, S. Werneburg, D. Jung, S. Vistnes, J. H. Stockley, A. Young, M. Steindel, B. Tung, N. Goyal, A. Bhaduri, S. Mayer, J. B. Engler, O. A. Bayraktar, R. J. M. Franklin, M. Haeussler, R. Reynolds, D. P. Schafer, M. A. Friese, L. R. Shiow, A. R. Kriegstein, and D. H. Rowitch. 2019. Neuronal vulnerability and multilineage diversity in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* 573: 75-82.
- 97. Ponath, G., S. Ramanan, M. Mubarak, W. Housley, S. Lee, F. R. Sahinkaya, A. Vortmeyer,
  C. S. Raine, and D. Pitt. 2017. Myelin phagocytosis by astrocytes after myelin damage promotes lesion pathology. *Brain* 140: 399-413.
- 98. Waisman, A., and L. Johann. 2018. Antigen-presenting cell diversity for T cell reactivation in central nervous system autoimmunity. *J Mol Med (Berl)* 96: 1279-1292.
- 99. Vignali, D. A., L. W. Collison, and C. J. Workman. 2008. How regulatory T cells work. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8: 523-532.
- 100. Lowther, D. E., and D. A. Hafler. 2012. Regulatory T cells in the central nervous system. *Immunol Rev* 248: 156-169.

- 101. Furtado, G. C., D. Olivares-Villagomez, M. A. Curotto de Lafaille, A. K. Wensky, J. A. Latkowski, and J. J. Lafaille. 2001. Regulatory T cells in spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Immunol Rev* 182: 122-134.
- 102. Huseby, E. S., D. Liggitt, T. Brabb, B. Schnabel, C. Ohlen, and J. Goverman. 2001. A pathogenic role for myelin-specific CD8(+) T cells in a model for multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* 194: 669-676.
- 103. Hong, J., Y. C. Zang, H. Nie, and J. Z. Zhang. 2006. CD4+ regulatory T cell responses induced by T cell vaccination in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 5024-5029.
- 104. Buckner, J. H. 2010. Mechanisms of impaired regulation by CD4(+)CD25(+)FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells in human autoimmune diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol* 10: 849-859.
- 105. Randolph, D. A., and C. G. Fathman. 2006. Cd4+Cd25+ regulatory T cells and their therapeutic potential. *Annu Rev Med* 57: 381-402.
- 106. Kohm, A. P., P. A. Carpentier, H. A. Anger, and S. D. Miller. 2002. Cutting edge: CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress antigen-specific autoreactive immune responses and central nervous system inflammation during active experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 169: 4712-4716.
- 107. Reddy, J., Z. Illes, X. Zhang, J. Encinas, J. Pyrdol, L. Nicholson, R. A. Sobel, K. W. Wucherpfennig, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2004. Myelin proteolipid protein-specific CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells mediate genetic resistance to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101: 15434-15439.
- 108. Krishnarajah, S., and B. Becher. 2022. TH Cells and Cytokines in Encephalitogenic Disorders. *Front Immunol* 13: 822919.
- 109. Lafaille, J. J., F. V. Keere, A. L. Hsu, J. L. Baron, W. Haas, C. S. Raine, and S. Tonegawa. 1997. Myelin basic protein-specific T helper 2 (Th2) cells cause experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in immunodeficient hosts rather than protect them from the disease. *J Exp Med* 186: 307-312.
- 110. Salou, M., A. Garcia, L. Michel, A. Gainche-Salmon, D. Loussouarn, B. Nicol, F. Guillot, P. Hulin, S. Nedellec, D. Baron, G. Ramstein, J. P. Soulillou, S. Brouard, A. B. Nicot, N. Degauque, and D. A. Laplaud. 2015. Expanded CD8 T-cell sharing between periphery and CNS in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* 2: 609-622.
- 111. Mars, L. T., P. Saikali, R. S. Liblau, and N. Arbour. 2011. Contribution of CD8 T lymphocytes to the immuno-pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis and its animal models. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1812: 151-161.
- 112. Mockus, T. E., A. Munie, J. R. Atkinson, and B. M. Segal. 2021. Encephalitogenic and Regulatory CD8 T Cells in Multiple Sclerosis and Its Animal Models. *J Immunol* 206: 3-10.
- Dulken, B. W., M. T. Buckley, P. Navarro Negredo, N. Saligrama, R. Cayrol, D. S. Leeman, B. M. George, S. C. Boutet, K. Hebestreit, J. V. Pluvinage, T. Wyss-Coray, I. L. Weissman, H. Vogel, M. M. Davis, and A. Brunet. 2019. Single-cell analysis reveals T cell infiltration in old neurogenic niches. *Nature* 571: 205-210.
- Huber, M., S. Heink, A. Pagenstecher, K. Reinhard, J. Ritter, A. Visekruna, A. Guralnik, N. Bollig, K. Jeltsch, C. Heinemann, E. Wittmann, T. Buch, O. Prazeres da Costa, A. Brustle, D. Brenner, T. W. Mak, H. W. Mittrucker, B. Tackenberg, T. Kamradt, and M. Lohoff. 2013.

IL-17A secretion by CD8+ T cells supports Th17-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Clin Invest* 123: 247-260.

- 115. Niederlova, V., O. Tsyklauri, T. Chadimova, and O. Stepanek. 2021. CD8(+) Tregs revisited: A heterogeneous population with different phenotypes and properties. *Eur J Immunol* 51: 512-530.
- 116. Wagner, C. A., P. J. Roque, T. R. Mileur, D. Liggitt, and J. M. Goverman. 2020. Myelinspecific CD8+ T cells exacerbate brain inflammation in CNS autoimmunity. *J Clin Invest* 130: 203-213.
- Kirby, L., J. Jin, J. G. Cardona, M. D. Smith, K. A. Martin, J. Wang, H. Strasburger, L. Herbst, M. Alexis, J. Karnell, T. Davidson, R. Dutta, J. Goverman, D. Bergles, and P. A. Calabresi.
   2019. Oligodendrocyte precursor cells present antigen and are cytotoxic targets in inflammatory demyelination. *Nat Commun* 10: 3887.
- 118. Jurewicz, A., W. E. Biddison, and J. P. Antel. 1998. MHC class I-restricted lysis of human oligodendrocytes by myelin basic protein peptide-specific CD8 T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 160: 3056-3059.
- 119. Ruijs, T. C., M. S. Freedman, Y. G. Grenier, A. Olivier, and J. P. Antel. 1990. Human oligodendrocytes are susceptible to cytolysis by major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted lymphocytes. *J Neuroimmunol* 27: 89-97.
- 120. Baughman, E. J., J. P. Mendoza, S. B. Ortega, C. L. Ayers, B. M. Greenberg, E. M. Frohman, and N. J. Karandikar. 2011. Neuroantigen-specific CD8+ regulatory T-cell function is deficient during acute exacerbation of multiple sclerosis. *J Autoimmun* 36: 115-124.
- 121. Sinha, S., F. R. Itani, and N. J. Karandikar. 2014. Immune regulation of multiple sclerosis by CD8+ T cells. *Immunol Res* 59: 254-265.
- Fontenot, J. D., J. P. Rasmussen, L. M. Williams, J. L. Dooley, A. G. Farr, and A. Y. Rudensky.
   2005. Regulatory T cell lineage specification by the forkhead transcription factor foxp3. *Immunity* 22: 329-341.
- 123. Churlaud, G., F. Pitoiset, F. Jebbawi, R. Lorenzon, B. Bellier, M. Rosenzwajg, and D. Klatzmann. 2015. Human and Mouse CD8(+)CD25(+)FOXP3(+) Regulatory T Cells at Steady State and during Interleukin-2 Therapy. *Front Immunol* 6: 171.
- 124. Frisullo, G., V. Nociti, R. Iorio, D. Plantone, A. K. Patanella, P. A. Tonali, and A. P. Batocchi. 2010. CD8(+)Foxp3(+) T cells in peripheral blood of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. *Hum Immunol* 71: 437-441.
- 125. Flippe, L., S. Bezie, I. Anegon, and C. Guillonneau. 2019. Future prospects for CD8(+) regulatory T cells in immune tolerance. *Immunol Rev* 292: 209-224.
- 126. Cunnusamy, K., E. J. Baughman, J. Franco, S. B. Ortega, S. Sinha, P. Chaudhary, B. M. Greenberg, E. M. Frohman, and N. J. Karandikar. 2014. Disease exacerbation of multiple sclerosis is characterized by loss of terminally differentiated autoregulatory CD8+ T cells. *Clin Immunol* 152: 115-126.
- 127. Polliack, M. L., Y. Barak, and A. Achiron. 2001. Late-onset multiple sclerosis. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 49: 168-171.
- 128. Sanai, S. A., V. Saini, R. H. Benedict, R. Zivadinov, B. E. Teter, M. Ramanathan, and B. Weinstock-Guttman. 2016. Aging and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* 22: 717-725.
- 129. Wallack, E. M., H. D. Wiseman, and M. Ploughman. 2016. Healthy Aging from the Perspectives of 683 Older People with Multiple Sclerosis. *Mult Scler Int* 2016: 1845720.

- 130. Bermel, R. A., A. D. Rae-Grant, and R. J. Fox. 2010. Diagnosing multiple sclerosis at a later age: more than just progressive myelopathy. *Mult Scler* 16: 1335-1340.
- 131. Awad, A., and O. Stuve. 2010. Multiple sclerosis in the elderly patient. *Drugs Aging* 27: 283-294.
- 132. Marrie, R. A., R. Horwitz, G. Cutter, T. Tyry, D. Campagnolo, and T. Vollmer. 2009. Comorbidity delays diagnosis and increases disability at diagnosis in MS. *Neurology* 72: 117-124.
- 133. Minden, S. L., D. Frankel, L. S. Hadden, K. P. Srinath, and J. N. Perloff. 2004. Disability in elderly people with multiple sclerosis: An analysis of baseline data from the Sonya Slifka Longitudinal Multiple Sclerosis Study. *NeuroRehabilitation* 19: 55-67.
- 134. Matejuk, A., C. Hopke, A. A. Vandenbark, P. D. Hurn, and H. Offner. 2005. Middle-age male mice have increased severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and are unresponsive to testosterone therapy. *J Immunol* 174: 2387-2395.
- 135. Nikolich-Zugich, J. 2018. The twilight of immunity: emerging concepts in aging of the immune system. *Nat Immunol* 19: 10-19.
- 136. Weyand, C. M., and J. J. Goronzy. 2016. Aging of the Immune System. Mechanisms and Therapeutic Targets. *Ann Am Thorac Soc* 13 Suppl 5: S422-S428.
- 137. Crooke, S. N., I. G. Ovsyannikova, G. A. Poland, and R. B. Kennedy. 2019. Immunosenescence and human vaccine immune responses. *Immun Ageing* 16: 25.
- 138. Fulop, T., A. Larbi, G. Dupuis, A. Le Page, E. H. Frost, A. A. Cohen, J. M. Witkowski, and C. Franceschi. 2017. Immunosenescence and Inflamm-Aging As Two Sides of the Same Coin: Friends or Foes? *Front Immunol* 8: 1960.
- 139. Mittelbrunn, M., and G. Kroemer. 2021. Hallmarks of T cell aging. *Nat Immunol* 22: 687-698.
- 140. Goronzy, J. J., and C. M. Weyand. 2019. Mechanisms underlying T cell ageing. *Nat Rev Immunol* 19: 573-583.
- 141. Oh, J., W. Wang, R. Thomas, and D. M. Su. 2017. Capacity of tTreg generation is not impaired in the atrophied thymus. *PLoS Biol* 15: e2003352.
- 142. Raynor, J., C. S. Lages, H. Shehata, D. A. Hildeman, and C. A. Chougnet. 2012. Homeostasis and function of regulatory T cells in aging. *Curr Opin Immunol* 24: 482-487.
- 143. Tsukamoto, H., K. Clise-Dwyer, G. E. Huston, D. K. Duso, A. L. Buck, L. L. Johnson, L. Haynes, and S. L. Swain. 2009. Age-associated increase in lifespan of naive CD4 T cells contributes to T-cell homeostasis but facilitates development of functional defects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 18333-18338.
- 144. Chougnet, C. A., P. Tripathi, C. S. Lages, J. Raynor, A. Sholl, P. Fink, D. R. Plas, and D. A. Hildeman. 2011. A major role for Bim in regulatory T cell homeostasis. *J Immunol* 186: 156-163.
- 145. Tsukamoto, H., G. E. Huston, J. Dibble, D. K. Duso, and S. L. Swain. 2010. Bim dictates naive CD4 T cell lifespan and the development of age-associated functional defects. *J Immunol* 185: 4535-4544.
- 146. Zhang, J., T. He, L. Xue, and H. Guo. 2021. Senescent T cells: a potential biomarker and target for cancer therapy. *EBioMedicine* 68: 103409.
- 147. Moro-Garcia, M. A., R. Alonso-Arias, and C. Lopez-Larrea. 2013. When Aging Reaches CD4+ T-Cells: Phenotypic and Functional Changes. *Front Immunol* 4: 107.

- 148. Thomas, R., W. Wang, and D. M. Su. 2020. Contributions of Age-Related Thymic Involution to Immunosenescence and Inflammaging. *Immun Ageing* 17: 2.
- 149. Sudo, K., H. Ema, Y. Morita, and H. Nakauchi. 2000. Age-associated characteristics of murine hematopoietic stem cells. *J Exp Med* 192: 1273-1280.
- 150. Min, H., E. Montecino-Rodriguez, and K. Dorshkind. 2004. Reduction in the developmental potential of intrathymic T cell progenitors with age. *J Immunol* 173: 245-250.
- 151. Ortman, C. L., K. A. Dittmar, P. L. Witte, and P. T. Le. 2002. Molecular characterization of the mouse involuted thymus: aberrations in expression of transcription regulators in thymocyte and epithelial compartments. *Int Immunol* 14: 813-822.
- 152. Rode, I., V. C. Martins, G. Kublbeck, N. Maltry, C. Tessmer, and H. R. Rodewald. 2015. Foxn1 Protein Expression in the Developing, Aging, and Regenerating Thymus. *J Immunol* 195: 5678-5687.
- 153. Hale, J. S., T. E. Boursalian, G. L. Turk, and P. J. Fink. 2006. Thymic output in aged mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 8447-8452.
- 154. Britanova, O. V., E. V. Putintseva, M. Shugay, E. M. Merzlyak, M. A. Turchaninova, D. B. Staroverov, D. A. Bolotin, S. Lukyanov, E. A. Bogdanova, I. Z. Mamedov, Y. B. Lebedev, and D. M. Chudakov. 2014. Age-related decrease in TCR repertoire diversity measured with deep and normalized sequence profiling. *J Immunol* 192: 2689-2698.
- 155. Qi, Q., Y. Liu, Y. Cheng, J. Glanville, D. Zhang, J. Y. Lee, R. A. Olshen, C. M. Weyand, S. D. Boyd, and J. J. Goronzy. 2014. Diversity and clonal selection in the human T-cell repertoire. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 111: 13139-13144.
- 156. Xia, J., H. Wang, J. Guo, Z. Zhang, B. Coder, and D. M. Su. 2012. Age-Related Disruption of Steady-State Thymic Medulla Provokes Autoimmune Phenotype via Perturbing Negative Selection. *Aging Dis* 3: 248-259.
- 157. Coder, B., and D. M. Su. 2015. Thymic involution beyond T-cell insufficiency. *Oncotarget* 6: 21777-21778.
- 158. Scheinecker, C., L. Goschl, and M. Bonelli. 2020. Treg cells in health and autoimmune diseases: New insights from single cell analysis. *J Autoimmun* 110: 102376.
- 159. ElEssawy, B., and X. C. Li. 2015. Type 1 diabetes and T regulatory cells. *Pharmacol Res* 98: 22-30.
- 160. Kostic, M., I. Stojanovic, G. Marjanovic, N. Zivkovic, and A. Cvetanovic. 2015. Deleterious versus protective autoimmunity in multiple sclerosis. *Cell Immunol* 296: 122-132.
- Noori-Zadeh, A., S. A. Mesbah-Namin, S. Bistoon-Beigloo, S. Bakhtiyari, H. A. Abbaszadeh, S. Darabi, M. Rajabibazl, and A. Abdanipour. 2016. Regulatory T cell number in multiple sclerosis patients: A meta-analysis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* 5: 73-76.
- 162. Lages, C. S., I. Suffia, P. A. Velilla, B. Huang, G. Warshaw, D. A. Hildeman, Y. Belkaid, and C. Chougnet. 2008. Functional regulatory T cells accumulate in aged hosts and promote chronic infectious disease reactivation. *J Immunol* 181: 1835-1848.
- 163. Belkaid, Y. 2007. Regulatory T cells and infection: a dangerous necessity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 7: 875-888.
- 164. Liu, F., R. Lang, J. Zhao, X. Zhang, G. A. Pringle, Y. Fan, D. Yin, F. Gu, Z. Yao, and L. Fu. 2011.
   CD8(+) cytotoxic T cell and FOXP3(+) regulatory T cell infiltration in relation to breast cancer survival and molecular subtypes. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 130: 645-655.

- 165. Curiel, T. J. 2008. Regulatory T cells and treatment of cancer. *Curr Opin Immunol* 20: 241-246.
- 166. Glatigny, S., R. Duhen, C. Arbelaez, S. Kumari, and E. Bettelli. 2015. Integrin alpha L controls the homing of regulatory T cells during CNS autoimmunity in the absence of integrin alpha 4. *Sci Rep* 5: 7834.
- 167. Akbar, A. N., and S. M. Henson. 2011. Are senescence and exhaustion intertwined or unrelated processes that compromise immunity? *Nat Rev Immunol* 11: 289-295.
- 168. Akbar, A. N., S. M. Henson, and A. Lanna. 2016. Senescence of T Lymphocytes: Implications for Enhancing Human Immunity. *Trends Immunol* 37: 866-876.
- 169. Chou, J. P., and R. B. Effros. 2013. T cell replicative senescence in human aging. *Curr Pharm Des* 19: 1680-1698.
- 170. Appleman, L. J., and V. A. Boussiotis. 2003. T cell anergy and costimulation. *Immunol Rev* 192: 161-180.
- 171. Pangrazzi, L., and B. Weinberger. 2020. T cells, aging and senescence. *Exp Gerontol* 134: 110887.
- 172. Franceschi, C., P. Garagnani, P. Parini, C. Giuliani, and A. Santoro. 2018. Inflammaging: a new immune-metabolic viewpoint for age-related diseases. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 14: 576-590.
- 173. Fulop, T., J. M. Witkowski, F. Olivieri, and A. Larbi. 2018. The integration of inflammaging in age-related diseases. *Semin Immunol* 40: 17-35.
- Rea, I. M., D. S. Gibson, V. McGilligan, S. E. McNerlan, H. D. Alexander, and O. A. Ross. 2018. Age and Age-Related Diseases: Role of Inflammation Triggers and Cytokines. *Front Immunol* 9: 586.
- 175. Vallejo, A. N. 2005. CD28 extinction in human T cells: altered functions and the program of T-cell senescence. *Immunol Rev* 205: 158-169.
- Fagnoni, F. F., R. Vescovini, M. Mazzola, G. Bologna, E. Nigro, G. Lavagetto, C. Franceschi, M. Passeri, and P. Sansoni. 1996. Expansion of cytotoxic CD8+ CD28- T cells in healthy ageing people, including centenarians. *Immunology* 88: 501-507.
- 177. Weng, N. P., A. N. Akbar, and J. Goronzy. 2009. CD28(-) T cells: their role in the ageassociated decline of immune function. *Trends Immunol* 30: 306-312.
- 178. Huff, W. X., M. Bam, J. M. Shireman, J. H. Kwon, L. Song, S. Newman, A. A. Cohen-Gadol, S. Shapiro, T. Jones, K. Fulton, S. Liu, H. Tanaka, Y. Liu, J. Wan, and M. Dey. 2021. Agingand Tumor-Mediated Increase in CD8(+)CD28(-) T Cells Might Impose a Strong Barrier to Success of Immunotherapy in Glioblastoma. *Immunohorizons* 5: 395-409.
- 179. Appay, V., D. F. Nixon, S. M. Donahoe, G. M. Gillespie, T. Dong, A. King, G. S. Ogg, H. M. Spiegel, C. Conlon, C. A. Spina, D. V. Havlir, D. D. Richman, A. Waters, P. Easterbrook, A. J. McMichael, and S. L. Rowland-Jones. 2000. HIV-specific CD8(+) T cells produce antiviral cytokines but are impaired in cytolytic function. *J Exp Med* 192: 63-75.
- 180. Weyand, C. M., J. C. Brandes, D. Schmidt, J. W. Fulbright, and J. J. Goronzy. 1998. Functional properties of CD4+ CD28- T cells in the aging immune system. *Mech Ageing Dev* 102: 131-147.
- 181. Park, W., C. M. Weyand, D. Schmidt, and J. J. Goronzy. 1997. Co-stimulatory pathways controlling activation and peripheral tolerance of human CD4+CD28- T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 27: 1082-1090.

- 182. Schmidt, D., J. J. Goronzy, and C. M. Weyand. 1996. CD4+ CD7- CD28- T cells are expanded in rheumatoid arthritis and are characterized by autoreactivity. *J Clin Invest* 97: 2027-2037.
- 183. Vallejo, A. N., L. O. Mugge, P. A. Klimiuk, C. M. Weyand, and J. J. Goronzy. 2000. Central role of thrombospondin-1 in the activation and clonal expansion of inflammatory T cells. *J Immunol* 164: 2947-2954.
- 184. Hashimoto, K., T. Kouno, T. Ikawa, N. Hayatsu, Y. Miyajima, H. Yabukami, T. Terooatea, T. Sasaki, T. Suzuki, M. Valentine, G. Pascarella, Y. Okazaki, H. Suzuki, J. W. Shin, A. Minoda, I. Taniuchi, H. Okano, Y. Arai, N. Hirose, and P. Carninci. 2019. Single-cell transcriptomics reveals expansion of cytotoxic CD4 T cells in supercentenarians. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 116: 24242-24251.
- 185. Covre, L. P., R. P. H. De Maeyer, D. C. O. Gomes, and A. N. Akbar. 2020. The role of senescent T cells in immunopathology. *Aging Cell* 19: e13272.
- 186. Costantini, E., C. D'Angelo, and M. Reale. 2018. The Role of Immunosenescence in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Mediators Inflamm* 2018: 6039171.
- 187. Muller, L., and S. Di Benedetto. 2021. How Immunosenescence and Inflammaging May Contribute to Hyperinflammatory Syndrome in COVID-19. *Int J Mol Sci* 22.
- 188. Ahmed, M., K. G. Lanzer, E. J. Yager, P. S. Adams, L. L. Johnson, and M. A. Blackman. 2009. Clonal expansions and loss of receptor diversity in the naive CD8 T cell repertoire of aged mice. *J Immunol* 182: 784-792.
- 189. Mold, J. E., P. Reu, A. Olin, S. Bernard, J. Michaelsson, S. Rane, A. Yates, A. Khosravi, M. Salehpour, G. Possnert, P. Brodin, and J. Frisen. 2019. Cell generation dynamics underlying naive T-cell homeostasis in adult humans. *PLoS Biol* 17: e3000383.
- 190. Link, A., T. K. Vogt, S. Favre, M. R. Britschgi, H. Acha-Orbea, B. Hinz, J. G. Cyster, and S. A. Luther. 2007. Fibroblastic reticular cells in lymph nodes regulate the homeostasis of naive T cells. *Nat Immunol* 8: 1255-1265.
- Becklund, B. R., J. F. Purton, C. Ramsey, S. Favre, T. K. Vogt, C. E. Martin, D. S. Spasova, G. Sarkisyan, E. LeRoy, J. T. Tan, H. Wahlus, B. Bondi-Boyd, S. A. Luther, and C. D. Surh. 2016. The aged lymphoid tissue environment fails to support naive T cell homeostasis. *Sci Rep* 6: 30842.
- 192. Nikolich-Zugich, J. 2008. Ageing and life-long maintenance of T-cell subsets in the face of latent persistent infections. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8: 512-522.
- 193. Chiu, B. C., B. E. Martin, V. R. Stolberg, and S. W. Chensue. 2013. Cutting edge: Central memory CD8 T cells in aged mice are virtual memory cells. *J Immunol* 191: 5793-5796.
- 194. Renkema, K. R., G. Li, A. Wu, M. J. Smithey, and J. Nikolich-Zugich. 2014. Two separate defects affecting true naive or virtual memory T cell precursors combine to reduce naive T cell responses with aging. *J Immunol* 192: 151-159.
- 195. White, J. T., E. W. Cross, M. A. Burchill, T. Danhorn, M. D. McCarter, H. R. Rosen, B. O'Connor, and R. M. Kedl. 2016. Virtual memory T cells develop and mediate bystander protective immunity in an IL-15-dependent manner. *Nat Commun* 7: 11291.
- 196. Lee, N., M. S. Shin, K. S. Kang, S. A. Yoo, S. Mohanty, R. R. Montgomery, A. C. Shaw, and I. Kang. 2014. Human monocytes have increased IFN-gamma-mediated IL-15 production with age alongside altered IFN-gamma receptor signaling. *Clin Immunol* 152: 101-110.
- 197. Furman, D., J. Campisi, E. Verdin, P. Carrera-Bastos, S. Targ, C. Franceschi, L. Ferrucci, D. W. Gilroy, A. Fasano, G. W. Miller, A. H. Miller, A. Mantovani, C. M. Weyand, N. Barzilai, J.

J. Goronzy, T. A. Rando, R. B. Effros, A. Lucia, N. Kleinstreuer, and G. M. Slavich. 2019. Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. *Nat Med* 25: 1822-1832.

- 198. Joudi, A. M., C. P. Reyes Flores, and B. D. Singer. 2022. Epigenetic Control of Regulatory T Cell Stability and Function: Implications for Translation. *Front Immunol* 13: 861607.
- 199. Gao, Y., F. Lin, J. Su, Z. Gao, Y. Li, J. Yang, Z. Deng, B. Liu, A. Tsun, and B. Li. 2012. Molecular mechanisms underlying the regulation and functional plasticity of FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells. *Genes Immun* 13: 1-13.
- 200. Dominguez-Villar, M., and D. A. Hafler. 2018. Regulatory T cells in autoimmune disease. *Nat Immunol* 19: 665-673.
- 201. Zhou, L., M. M. Chong, and D. R. Littman. 2009. Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. *Immunity* 30: 646-655.
- 202. Zhou, X., S. Bailey-Bucktrout, L. T. Jeker, and J. A. Bluestone. 2009. Plasticity of CD4(+) FoxP3(+) T cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* 21: 281-285.
- 203. McClymont, S. A., A. L. Putnam, M. R. Lee, J. H. Esensten, W. Liu, M. A. Hulme, U. Hoffmuller, U. Baron, S. Olek, J. A. Bluestone, and T. M. Brusko. 2011. Plasticity of human regulatory T cells in healthy subjects and patients with type 1 diabetes. *J Immunol* 186: 3918-3926.
- 204. Wang, T., X. Sun, J. Zhao, J. Zhang, H. Zhu, C. Li, N. Gao, Y. Jia, D. Xu, F. P. Huang, N. Li, L. Lu, and Z. G. Li. 2015. Regulatory T cells in rheumatoid arthritis showed increased plasticity toward Th17 but retained suppressive function in peripheral blood. *Ann Rheum Dis* 74: 1293-1301.
- 205. Kleinewietfeld, M., and D. A. Hafler. 2013. The plasticity of human Treg and Th17 cells and its role in autoimmunity. *Semin Immunol* 25: 305-312.
- Bailey-Bucktrout, S. L., M. Martinez-Llordella, X. Zhou, B. Anthony, W. Rosenthal, H. Luche, H. J. Fehling, and J. A. Bluestone. 2013. Self-antigen-driven activation induces instability of regulatory T cells during an inflammatory autoimmune response. *Immunity* 39: 949-962.
- 207. Wan, Y. Y., and R. A. Flavell. 2007. Regulatory T-cell functions are subverted and converted owing to attenuated Foxp3 expression. *Nature* 445: 766-770.
- 208. Williams, L. M., and A. Y. Rudensky. 2007. Maintenance of the Foxp3-dependent developmental program in mature regulatory T cells requires continued expression of Foxp3. *Nat Immunol* 8: 277-284.
- Komatsu, N., M. E. Mariotti-Ferrandiz, Y. Wang, B. Malissen, H. Waldmann, and S. Hori.
   2009. Heterogeneity of natural Foxp3+ T cells: a committed regulatory T-cell lineage and an uncommitted minor population retaining plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 1903-1908.
- 210. Miyao, T., S. Floess, R. Setoguchi, H. Luche, H. J. Fehling, H. Waldmann, J. Huehn, and S. Hori. 2012. Plasticity of Foxp3(+) T cells reflects promiscuous Foxp3 expression in conventional T cells but not reprogramming of regulatory T cells. *Immunity* 36: 262-275.
- 211. Hori, S. 2011. Regulatory T cell plasticity: beyond the controversies. *Trends Immunol* 32: 295-300.

- Dominguez-Villar, M., C. M. Baecher-Allan, and D. A. Hafler. 2011. Identification of T helper type 1-like, Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in human autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* 17: 673-675.
- 213. Wei, G., L. Wei, J. Zhu, C. Zang, J. Hu-Li, Z. Yao, K. Cui, Y. Kanno, T. Y. Roh, W. T. Watford, D. E. Schones, W. Peng, H. W. Sun, W. E. Paul, J. J. O'Shea, and K. Zhao. 2009. Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* 30: 155-167.
- 214. Kitani, A., and L. Xu. 2008. Regulatory T cells and the induction of IL-17. *Mucosal Immunol* 1 Suppl 1: S43-46.
- 215. Beriou, G., C. M. Costantino, C. W. Ashley, L. Yang, V. K. Kuchroo, C. Baecher-Allan, and D. A. Hafler. 2009. IL-17-producing human peripheral regulatory T cells retain suppressive function. *Blood* 113: 4240-4249.
- 216. Komatsu, N., K. Okamoto, S. Sawa, T. Nakashima, M. Oh-hora, T. Kodama, S. Tanaka, J. A. Bluestone, and H. Takayanagi. 2014. Pathogenic conversion of Foxp3+ T cells into TH17 cells in autoimmune arthritis. *Nat Med* 20: 62-68.
- 217. Pawelec, G. 2007. Immunosenescence comes of age. Symposium on Aging Research in Immunology: The Impact of Genomics. *EMBO Rep* 8: 220-223.
- 218. Pawelec, G., W. Wagner, M. Adibzadeh, and A. Engel. 1999. T cell immunosenescence in vitro and in vivo. *Exp Gerontol* 34: 419-429.
- 219. Boren, E., and M. E. Gershwin. 2004. Inflamm-aging: autoimmunity, and the immune-risk phenotype. *Autoimmun Rev* 3: 401-406.
- 220. Prelog, M. 2006. Aging of the immune system: a risk factor for autoimmunity? *Autoimmun Rev* 5: 136-139.
- van der Geest, K. S., W. H. Abdulahad, S. M. Tete, P. G. Lorencetti, G. Horst, N. A. Bos, B. J. Kroesen, E. Brouwer, and A. M. Boots. 2014. Aging disturbs the balance between effector and regulatory CD4+ T cells. *Exp Gerontol* 60: 190-196.
- 222. Yoo, I. H., M. J. Kim, J. Kim, J. J. Sung, S. T. Park, and S. W. Ahn. 2019. The Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Sulforaphane in Mice with Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *J Korean Med Sci* 34: e197.
- 223. Fletcher, J. M., S. J. Lalor, C. M. Sweeney, N. Tubridy, and K. H. Mills. 2010. T cells in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 162: 1-11.
- 224. Miller, S. D., W. J. Karpus, and T. S. Davidson. 2010. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the mouse. *Curr Protoc Immunol* Chapter 15: Unit 15 11.
- 225. Reddy, J., H. Waldner, X. Zhang, Z. Illes, K. W. Wucherpfennig, R. A. Sobel, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2005. Cutting edge: CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells contribute to gender differences in susceptibility to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 175: 5591-5595.
- 226. Buc, M. 2013. Role of regulatory T cells in pathogenesis and biological therapy of multiple sclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm* 2013: 963748.
- 227. Kleinewietfeld, M., and D. A. Hafler. 2014. Regulatory T cells in autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Immunol Rev* 259: 231-244.
- 228. Deczkowska, A., K. Baruch, and M. Schwartz. 2016. Type I/II Interferon Balance in the Regulation of Brain Physiology and Pathology. *Trends Immunol* 37: 181-192.
- 229. Liu, Y., L. Wang, J. Predina, R. Han, U. H. Beier, L. C. Wang, V. Kapoor, T. R. Bhatti, T. Akimova, S. Singhal, P. K. Brindle, P. A. Cole, S. M. Albelda, and W. W. Hancock. 2013. Inhibition of p300 impairs Foxp3(+) T regulatory cell function and promotes antitumor immunity. *Nat Med* 19: 1173-1177.
- 230. Kim, J. M., J. P. Rasmussen, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2007. Regulatory T cells prevent catastrophic autoimmunity throughout the lifespan of mice. *Nat Immunol* 8: 191-197.
- 231. Raposo, C., N. Graubardt, M. Cohen, C. Eitan, A. London, T. Berkutzki, and M. Schwartz. 2014. CNS repair requires both effector and regulatory T cells with distinct temporal and spatial profiles. *J Neurosci* 34: 10141-10155.
- 232. Hatzioannou, A., A. Boumpas, M. Papadopoulou, I. Papafragkos, A. Varveri, T. Alissafi, and P. Verginis. 2021. Regulatory T Cells in Autoimmunity and Cancer: A Duplicitous Lifestyle. *Front Immunol* 12: 731947.
- 233. Rubtsov, Y. P., R. E. Niec, S. Josefowicz, L. Li, J. Darce, D. Mathis, C. Benoist, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2010. Stability of the regulatory T cell lineage in vivo. *Science* 329: 1667-1671.
- 234. Sawant, D. V., and D. A. Vignali. 2014. Once a Treg, always a Treg? *Immunol Rev* 259: 173-191.
- 235. Kitz, A., and M. Dominguez-Villar. 2017. Molecular mechanisms underlying Th1-like Treg generation and function. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 74: 4059-4075.
- Saxena, A., S. Desbois, N. Carrie, M. Lawand, L. T. Mars, and R. S. Liblau. 2012. Tc17 CD8+
  T cells potentiate Th1-mediated autoimmune diabetes in a mouse model. *J Immunol* 189: 3140-3149.
- 237. Walker, L. S., A. Chodos, M. Eggena, H. Dooms, and A. K. Abbas. 2003. Antigen-dependent proliferation of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in vivo. *J Exp Med* 198: 249-258.
- 238. Garg, S. K., C. Delaney, T. Toubai, A. Ghosh, P. Reddy, R. Banerjee, and R. Yung. 2014. Aging is associated with increased regulatory T-cell function. *Aging Cell* 13: 441-448.
- 239. Coder, B., W. Wang, L. Wang, Z. Wu, Q. Zhuge, and D. M. Su. 2017. Friend or foe: the dichotomous impact of T cells on neuro-de/re-generation during aging. *Oncotarget* 8: 7116-7137.
- Liu, Y., R. Carlsson, M. Comabella, J. Wang, M. Kosicki, B. Carrion, M. Hasan, X. Wu, X. Montalban, M. H. Dziegiel, F. Sellebjerg, P. S. Sorensen, K. Helin, and S. Issazadeh-Navikas.
  2014. FoxA1 directs the lineage and immunosuppressive properties of a novel regulatory T cell population in EAE and MS. *Nat Med* 20: 272-282.
- 241. Saresella, M., E. Calabrese, I. Marventano, F. Piancone, A. Gatti, M. G. Calvo, R. Nemni, and M. Clerici. 2010. PD1 negative and PD1 positive CD4+ T regulatory cells in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* 21: 927-938.
- 242. Kunis, G., K. Baruch, O. Miller, and M. Schwartz. 2015. Immunization with a Myelin-Derived Antigen Activates the Brain's Choroid Plexus for Recruitment of Immunoregulatory Cells to the CNS and Attenuates Disease Progression in a Mouse Model of ALS. *J Neurosci* 35: 6381-6393.
- 243. Zhou, X., S. L. Bailey-Bucktrout, L. T. Jeker, C. Penaranda, M. Martinez-Llordella, M. Ashby, M. Nakayama, W. Rosenthal, and J. A. Bluestone. 2009. Instability of the transcription factor Foxp3 leads to the generation of pathogenic memory T cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 10: 1000-1007.

- 244. Tan, T. G., D. Mathis, and C. Benoist. 2016. Singular role for T-BET+CXCR3+ regulatory T cells in protection from autoimmune diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 113: 14103-14108.
- 245. Kitz, A., M. de Marcken, A. S. Gautron, M. Mitrovic, D. A. Hafler, and M. Dominguez-Villar. 2016. AKT isoforms modulate Th1-like Treg generation and function in human autoimmune disease. *EMBO Rep* 17: 1169-1183.
- 246. Korn, T., J. Reddy, W. Gao, E. Bettelli, A. Awasthi, T. R. Petersen, B. T. Backstrom, R. A. Sobel, K. W. Wucherpfennig, T. B. Strom, M. Oukka, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2007. Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Med* 13: 423-431.